
To: Members of the Integration Joint Board

Town House,
ABERDEEN 17 March 2020

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

The Members of the INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD are requested to meet in 
Council Chamber - Town House on TUESDAY, 24 MARCH 2020 at 10.00 am.

FRASER BELL
CHIEF OFFICER - GOVERNANCE

B U S I N E S S

1  Welcome from the Chair  

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2  Members are requested to intimate any declarations of interest  (Pages 3 - 4)

DETERMINATION OF EXEMPT BUSINESS

3  Members are requested to determine that any exempt business be considered with 
the press and public excluded  

STANDING ITEMS

4  Minute of Board Meeting of 10  March 2020  (Pages 5 - 8)

5  Draft Minute of Risk, Audit and Performance Systems Committee of 25 February 
2020  (Pages 9 - 14)

Public Document Pack



6  Draft Minute of Clinical and Care Governance Committee of 4 February 2020  
(Pages 15 - 22)

7  Business Planner  (Pages 23 - 24)

8  Chief Officer's Report - HSCP.19.110  (Pages 25 - 30)

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCE

9  Revised Scheme of Integration to Host Grampian-wide Mental Health and Learning 
Disability Services - HSCP.19.107  (Pages 31 - 40)

10  Grampian-wide Strategic Framework for Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Services 2020-2025 - HSCP.19.108  (Pages 41 - 74)

STRATEGY

11  Mental Health Delivery Plan - HSCP.19.113  (Pages 75 - 100)

TRANSFORMATION

12  Transformation - Decisions Required: Digital - HSCP.19.116  (Pages 101 - 122)

EXEMPT BUSINESS

13  Transformation - Decisions Required: Digital - HSCP.19.116  (Pages 123 - 134)

14  Developing health and care facilities for Countesswells (Update)  - HSCP.19.109  
(Pages 135 - 148)

15  2020/21 Supplementary Procurement Work Plan 2 - HSCP 19.121  (Pages 149 - 
174)

Website Address: https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/ 

Should you require any further information about this agenda, please contact Derek 
Jamieson, tel 01224 523057 or email derjamieson@aberdeencity.gov.uk 

https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/


DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

You must consider at the earliest stage possible whether you have an interest to 
declare in relation to any matter which is to be considered.  You should consider 
whether reports for meetings raise any issue of declaration of interest.  Your 
declaration of interest must be made under the standing item on the agenda, 
however if you do identify the need for a declaration of interest only when a particular 
matter is being discussed then you must declare the interest as soon as you realise 
it is necessary.  The following wording may be helpful for you in making your 
declaration.

I declare an interest in item (x) for the following reasons ……………

For example, I know the applicant / I am a member of the Board of X / I am 
employed by…  
and I will therefore withdraw from the meeting room during any discussion and voting 
on that item.

OR

I have considered whether I require to declare  an interest in item (x) for the following 
reasons …………… however, having applied the objective test,  I consider that my 
interest is so remote / insignificant that it does not require me to remove myself from 
consideration of the item.

OR

I declare an interest in item (x) for the following reasons …………… however I 
consider that a specific exclusion applies as my interest is as a member of xxxx, 
which is

(a) a devolved public body as defined in Schedule 3 to the Act;
(b) a public body established by enactment or in pursuance of statutory 

powers or by the authority of statute or a statutory scheme;
(c) a body with whom there is in force an agreement which has been made 

in pursuance of Section 19 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990 by Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise for the discharge by that body of any of the functions of 
Scottish Enterprise or, as the case may be, Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise; or

(d) a body being a company:-
i.  established wholly or mainly for the purpose of providing services to 
the Councillor’s local authority; and
ii.  which has entered into a contractual arrangement with that local 
authority for the supply of goods and/or services to that local authority.

OR

I declare an interest in item (x) for the following reasons……and although the body is 
covered by a specific exclusion, the matter before the Committee is one that is 
quasi-judicial / regulatory in nature where the body I am a member of:

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 is applying for a licence, a consent or an approval 
 is making an objection or representation
 has a material interest concerning a licence consent or approval 
 is the subject of a statutory order of a regulatory nature made or proposed to 

be made by the local authority…. and I will therefore withdraw from the 
meeting room during any discussion and voting on that item.

Page 4



ABERDEEN, 10 March 2020.  Minute of Meeting of the INTEGRATION JOINT 
BOARD.

Present:- Councillor Sarah Duncan, Chair; Luan Grugeon, Vice Chair; 
and Councillor Gill Al-Samarai, Councillor Philip Bell, Kim 
Cruttenden, Councillor Lesley Dunbar, Alan Gray, John 
Tomlinson, Mike Adams, Jim Currie, Peter Dixon (as substitute 
for Maggie Hepburn), Jenny Gibb, Sandra MacLeod, Shona 
McFarlane, Alison Murray, Graeme Simpson and Alex 
Stephen.

Also in attendance:- John Forsyth (Solicitor) and Derek Jamieson (Clerk)

Apologies:- Dr Howard Gemmell, Maggie Hepburn, Dr Caroline Howarth, 
Chris Littlejohn and Dr Malcolm Metcalfe

The agenda and reports associated with this minute can be found here. Please 
note that if any changes are made to this minute at the point of approval, these 
will be outlined in the subsequent minute and this document will not be 
retrospectively altered.

WELCOME 

1. The Chair welcomed members to the Meeting and introduced Shona McFarlane 
and Alison Murray as new members of the Board as Care Representatives.

The Board heard that in consequence of the Aberdeen City Council Budget Decisions 
not being approved until Tuesday 3 March 2020, it had not been possible to circulate this 
Budget Agenda as prescribed by Standing Order 10(1) – Notice Of Meetings. Members 
were assured however that the circulation complied with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973 

The Board resolved : -
to suspend Standing Order 10(1) – Notice Of Meetings and allow presentation of all 
matters circulated under this Agenda.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2. There were no Declarations of Interest.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://councilcommittees.acc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=516&MId=6777&Ver=4


2

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
10 March 2020

EXEMPT BUSINESS

3. There was no Exempt Business.

MINUTE OF BOARD MEETING

4. The Board had before it the minute of its previous meeting on 11 February 2020.

The Board resolved :-
to approve the minute as a correct record.

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK - HSCP.19.106

5. The Board had before it a report presented by the Chief Finance Officer, ACHSCP 
which presented an update on the final levels of funding delegated by Aberdeen City 
Council and NHS Grampian for health and social care activities in 2020/21.

The report recommended : -
that the Board – 
a) note the anticipated financial out-turn for 2019/20 and the impact on the
Reserves position of the IJB;
b) note the financial allocations proposed to be allocated by the partner
organisations;
c) approve the 2020/21 budget and the Aberdeen City IJB Medium Term
Financial Framework included as appendix 1 of this report;
d) note that the IJB previously agreed to earmark £2.5 million in a risk fund
and it is not proposed to replenish this fund;
e) approve the Bon Accord Contract level for 2020/21 of £30,304,000 and
budget assumptions noted in sections 3.14 and 3.15;
f) instruct the Chief Officer to uplift the direct payments for clients with a
staffing element included in their payment by 3.33% from the 1 May 2020
to cover the increase in the Scottish Living Wage;
g) instruct the Chief Officer to negotiate uplifts for those Social Care
providers not covered by the National Care Home Contract; and
h) make the budget directions contained in appendix 2 of this report and
instruct the Chief Officer to issue these directions to the constituent authorities.

The Board heard that financial arrangements were aligned to the Board Vision and 
centred around five principal themes, each aligned to the Board Strategy and that 
financial pressures required absorption of the previously agreed Risk Fund within this 
year’s funding model.

Page 6



3

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
10 March 2020

The Board also heard that the financial pressures could not be underestimated and the 
increased demand indicated a driver for continued change, the efficiencies of which 
complimented the Financial Budget.

The Board resolved :-
to approve the recommendations.
- COUNCILLOR SARAH DUNCAN, CHAIRPERSON

Page 7



4

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
10 March 2020

Page 8



Risk, Audit and Performance Committee

Minute of Meeting

Tuesday, 25 February 2020 
10.00 am Meeting Room 4 / 5, Health Village

Present: John Tomlinson - Chair; and Luan Grugeon, Councillor Gill 
Al-Samarai and Councillor Philip Bell

Also in attendance; Sandra MacLeod (Chief Officer, ACHSCP), Alex Stephen 
(Chief Finance Officer, ACHSCP) and John Forsyth (Solicitor), David Hughes (Audit for 
Articles 9 and 10), Michael Wilkie  and Adrian Kolodziej (both External Audit KPMG for 
Article 11) and Derek Jamieson (Clerk).

The agenda and reports associated with this minute can be found here. 
Please note that if any changes are made to this minute at the point of 
approval, these will be outlined in the subsequent minute and this 
document will not be retrospectively altered.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

1. There were no Declarations of Interest.

DETERMINATION OF EXEMPT BUSINESS

2. There was no exempt business.

MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING

3. The Committee had before it the minute of the meeting of 29 October 2019.

The Committee resolved : -
to approve the minute as a true record.

BUSINESS PLANNER

4. The Committee had before it the Business Planner.

The Committee resolved : -
to note the business planner.

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=553


2

RISK, AUDIT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE
25 February 2020

TERMS OF REFERENCE

5. The Committee had before it the Terms of Reference of the Risk, Audit and 
Performance Committee.

The Committee heard that these had been approved at the Integration Joint Board 
Meeting on 19 November 2019 and was presented as a reminder of the amendment.

The Committee resolved : -
to note the circulation of the amended Terms of Reference.

AUDIT SCOTLAND REPORT - NHS IN SCOTLAND - HSCP.19.104

6. The Committee had before it a report by the Chief Officer, ACHSCP which 
provided an overview of the NHS in Scotland and the realities and challenges of 
delivering healthcare in Scotland. The report set out some of the key building blocks to 
underpin health and social care reform.

The report recommended :-
that the Committee note the contents of the report.

The Committee resolved : -
to approve the recommendations.

RISK APPETITE STATEMENT AND STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER - HSCP.19.101

7. The Committee had before it a report a by the Chief Officer, ACHSCP. The report 
presented the latest version of the Aberdeen City Health & Social Care Partnership’s 
(ACHSCP) Risk Appetite Statement and Strategic Risk Register, as reviewed by the 
Integration Joint Board (IJB) at its workshop on 19 November 2019 and as considered 
by the IJB at its meetings on 21 January and 11 February, 2020.

The report recommended :-
that the Committee –
(a) note the revised Risk Appetite Statement, as approved by the IJB, detailed in 

Appendix A to the report; and
(b) note the Strategic Risk Register, as considered by the IJB at its meetings in 

January and February 2020 and discussed at the IJB Workshop on Workforce in 
February 2020, as detailed in Appendix B to the report.

Page 10



3

RISK, AUDIT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE
25 February 2020

The Committee resolved : -
to approve the recommendations.

TRANSFORMATION PROGRESS REPORT - HSCP.19.102

8. The Committee had before it a report by the Chief Officer, ACHSCP which 
provided an update on the progress of the Transformation Programme and included a 
high-level overview of the full transformation programme.

The report recommended : -
that the Committee note the information provided in this report and the presentations on 
the Primary Care Improvement Plan (PCIP) evaluation, and Social Work financial 
assessments.

The Committee received a presentation on the application of Lean 6 methodology which 
had been applied during the projects.

The Committee received further presentation on PCIP – Theory of Change.

The Committee resolved : -
to approve the recommendation.

INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT AC2011 - INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD RISK 
MANAGEMENT - HSCP 19.100

9. The Committee had before it a report by the Chief Internal Auditor, Aberdeenshire 
Council which presented the outcome from the planned audit of Integration Joint Board 
Risk Management that was included in the 2019/20 Internal Audit Plan for the Integration 
Joint Board.

The report recommended :-
that the Committee review, discuss and comment on the issues raised within this report.

The Committee heard that reports presented by Auditors were their direct submissions 
and thus void any endorsement or signature by the Chief Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer, ACHSCP.

The Committee resolved : -
to approve the recommendations.

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2020/21 - HSCP.19.107

Page 11



4

RISK, AUDIT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE
25 February 2020

10. The Committee had before it a report by the Chief Internal Auditor, Aberdeenshire 
Council which sought approval of the Internal Audit Plan for the Aberdeen City Integration 
Joint Board for 2020/21.

The report recommended :-
that the Committee approve the Internal Audit Plan for 2020/21.

The Committee heard that reports presented by Auditors were their direct submissions 
and thus void any endorsement or signature by the Chief Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer, ACHSCP.

The Committee resolved : -
to approve the recommendations.

EXTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY 2019-20 - HSCP.19.105

11. The Committee had before it a report by the Audit Manager, KPMG which 
presented the draft external audit strategy for consideration.

The report recommended :-
that the Committee approve the approach to external audit, as outlined in Appendix A.

The Committee heard that reports presented by Auditors were their direct submissions 
and thus void any endorsement or signature by the Chief Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer, ACHSCP.

The Committee resolved : -
to approve the recommendations.

FINANCE UPDATE AS AT END DECEMBER 2019 - HSCP.19.102

12. The Committee had before it a report by the Chief Finance Officer, ACHSCP, 
which summarised the current year revenue budget performance for the services within 
the remit of the Integration Joint Board (IJB) as at Period 9 (end of December 2019), and 
advised on any areas of risk and management action relating to the revenue budget 
performance of the IJB services.

Page 12



5

RISK, AUDIT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE
25 February 2020

The report recommended :-
that the Committee – 
(a) note the report in relation to the IJB budget and the information on 

areas of risk and management action contained therein, and
(b) approve the budget virements indicated in Appendix E.

The Committee resolved : -
to approve the recommendations.

CONFIRMATION OF ASSURANCE

13. The Chairperson provided Members with an opportunity to request additional 
sources of assurance for items on the agenda or other areas of business, and thereafter 
asked the Committee to confirm it had received reasonable assurance to fulfil its duties 
as outlined within its Terms of Reference.

The Chair sought additional assurance in relation to activities involving NHS Grampian 
involvement with and reporting of assurance and that the Committee had discharged its 
planned assurance activities as planned over the preceding year.

The Committee resolved:-
(i) to request the Chief Officer to investigate NHS Grampian assurance activities and 

reporting and present a report to the Committee’s meeting on 28 April 2020; 
(ii) to request the Chief Finance Officer to present a report on the Committee’s 

assurance activities over the preceding year to the Committee’s meeting on 28 
April 2020; and

(iii) to otherwise confirm the receipt of reasonable assurance for items on the agenda.
- JOHN TOMLINSON, Chairperson.

Page 13



6

RISK, AUDIT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE
25 February 2020

Page 14



CLINICAL AND CARE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

ABERDEEN, 4 February 2020.  Minute of Meeting of the CLINICAL AND CARE 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE.  Present:- Councillor Lesley Dunbar Chairperson; 
and Kim Cruttenden, Councillor Sarah Duncan and Luan Grugeon (as substitute 
for Alan Gray).

In attendance: Caroline Howarth, Graham Gauld, Sandra MacLeod, Martin Allan, 
Graeme Simpson, Claire Duncan, Lynn Morrison, Sandy Reid, Emma Virasami, 
Laura MacDonald, Grace Milne and Mark Masson.

Please note that if any changes are made to this minute at the point of 
approval, these will be outlined in the subsequent minute and this document 
will not be retrospectively altered.

TERMS OF REFERENCE - FOR INFORMATION

1. The Committee had before it the Clinical and Care Governance Terms of 
Reference, which was approved by the IJB on 19 November 2019, for information.

Martin Allan, Business Manager within the Partnership explained that new seating 
arrangements would be in place for meetings of the Committee to help members 
understand roles, splitting voting members from professional advisers, assurance 
providers and union members.

The Committee heard from Graeme Simpson, Chief Officer – Integrated Children’s and 
Family Services, Aberdeen City Council who provided information in terms of his role and 
responsibility as Chief Social Work Officer, specifically referencing his governance and 
assurance role as professional adviser to the Committee.

The Committee then heard Councillor Sarah Duncan who provided details in terms of her 
role and expectations as a voting member on the Committee.

Martin Allan provided details in relation to his role as an assurance provider to the 
Committee, specifically providing details relating to clinical risks captured by the Health, 
Safety and Wellbeing Committee. 

The Committee resolved:-
to note the information provided.

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



2

CLINICAL AND CARE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
4 February 2020

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2. Members were requested to intimate any declarations of interest in respect of the 
items on today’s agenda, thereafter, the following was intimated:-
(1) Councillor Duncan declared an interest in item 7 (Staff Governance Update) and 

item 8 (Rosewell House Update) by virtue of her being a UNISON employee. She 
considered that the nature of her interest did not require her to leave the meeting 
and therefore chose to remain in the meeting for consideration of the items.

MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING OF 27 NOVEMBER 2019, FOR APPROVAL

3. The Committee had before it the minute of its previous meeting of 27 November 
2019, for approval.

In relation to article 3(ii) regarding National Quality Inspection reporting, Sandra Macleod, 
Chief Officer advised that assurance would be sought from the two medical NHS 
Grampian leads (Caroline Hiscox and Nick Fluck) and the Council’s Performance 
Framework process by way of a report as and when required, as opposed to it being a 
standing item.

The Committee resolved:-
(i) to note that Claire Duncan would be submitting an assurance report to the next 

meeting of the Committee on the Criminal Justice Inspection; and
(ii) to note the information provided and to otherwise approve the minute.

BUSINESS PLANNER

4. The Committee had before it the Committee Business Planner for consideration.

The Committee resolved:-
(i) to note that Sandy Reid would submit update reports in relation to Workforce issues 

as and when required; and 
(ii) to otherwise note the Planner.

CCG GROUP REPORT - HSCP/19/092

5. The Committee had before it a report by Graham Gauld which provided information 
in relation to the meeting of the Clinical and Care Governance (CCG) Group held on 4 
December 2019.

The report recommended:-
that the Committee –

Page 16



3

CLINICAL AND CARE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
4 February 2020

(a) note the new concerns and highlighted complaints within the report; 
(b) instruct Officers to provide a report on the risks relating to Carden Medical Practice; 

and 
(c) note the contents of Appendix C relating to Rosewell House.

The Committee were advised that in relation to recommendation (c) above, a separate 
report had since been prepared and was attached to the agenda at item 8 for 
consideration.

Graham Gauld provided an overview of the report, highlighting the following:-
 that the CCG Group Summary spreadsheet was a ‘work in progress’ and would be 

expanded in future to provide additional detail and clarity in terms of abbreviations;
 that Neil Buck would be attending the last meeting of the Group to clarify matters 

regarding the operational risk register;
 that the Group discussed new initial case reviews; and
 that the situation relating to Torry and Carden Medical Practices remained fluid and 

both were being monitored;

It was acknowledged that the spreadsheet information was useful, however the 
expectation would be that that any strategic areas of risk identified by the Group would be 
outlined within the body of future reports to the Committee.

In addition, Sandra MacLeod (1) provided assurance to members that the operational risks 
at Carden Medical Practice had been addressed; and (2) advised that the Leadership 
Team had identified five key strategic objectives for 2020/21 which would be linked to the 
strategic objectives and strategic risks of the IJB, namely Supplementary Staffing, 
Localities, Sustainability, Commissioning and 2C Practices and that staff input had been 
sought in this regard.

The Committee resolved:-
(i) to approve recommendations (a) and (b) above;
(ii) to note that a report by Sandra MacLeod, Chief Officer on the Leadership Team’s 

five key strategic objectives would be submitted to the next meeting of the 
Committee in May 2020; and

(iii) to note that a report on ‘Sustainability of General Practices’ would be prepared by 
Caroline Howarth and submitted to the Committee in September 2020 for 
consideration.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELLBEING COMMITTEE UPDATE - HSCP/19/098

6. The Committee had before it a report by Martin Allan which provided an update on 
the establishment and role of the Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee (HSWC) and 

Page 17



4

CLINICAL AND CARE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
4 February 2020

how clinical risks could be captured by the Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee and 
reported to this Committee for consideration.

The report recommended:-
that the Committee – 
(a) request that the Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee provide information on 

clinical risks which were raised, where assurance was not provided that these risks 
had been effectively mitigated to this Committee on a regular basis (frequency to 
be decided); and

(b) note the details contained within the report.

The Committee heard Martin Allan provide an overview of the report advising (1) that the 
Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee had met yesterday and agreed the route for 
reporting to this Committee; (2) that a Primary Care representative had been appointed 
and would attend future meetings of the Committee; and (3) that additional appointments 
to the membership were being investigated.

Laura McDonald intimated that the HSWC escalation route for both organisations had 
been working effectively.

The Committee resolved:-
(i) to note that a report by Caroline Hiscox, Director of Nursing and Nick Fluck, Medical 

Director would be submitted to the Committee in September to outline the findings 
and learnings relating to clinical risk assurance and clarifying the landscape; and

(ii) to otherwise approve the recommendations. 

STAFF GOVERNANCE UPDATE - HSCP/19/105

7. The Committee had before it a report by Sandy Reid which provided an update on 
various Staff Governance matters.

The report recommended:-
that the Committee note the details contained within the report.

Sandy Reid highlighted amongst other items, the following areas for members’ attention:-
 Staff concerns in relation to Meridian -  the work to review aspects of efficiency 

within Learning Disability Services had now been completed;
 Woodend Nursing Sickness Absence - some progress had been made to reduce 

sickness absence levels (now 13% from 15%); and
 Craig Court – progress had been made to address concerns regarding aspects of 

care which were mainly due to high levels of staff leaving over a short period of 
time.

Page 18



5

CLINICAL AND CARE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
4 February 2020

It was acknowledged that the sickness levels in nursing at Woodend was mainly due to 
stress and anxiety which was systematic across NHS Grampian, and beyond.

Sandra MacLeod intimated that they were addressing sickness absence by learning from 
other areas and organisations, using a whole system approach focussing on areas of high 
staffing shortages; and in relation to Woodend she indicated that they would also be 
reviewing their roster system.

The Committee resolved:-
(i) to approve the recommendation; and 
(ii) to note the information provided.

ROSEWELL HOUSE UPDATE - HSCP/19/093

8. With reference to article 11 of the minute of the previous meeting, the Committee 
had before it a report by Emma Virasami which outlined concerns associated with 
performance at Rosewell Care Home, leading to escalation on the Operational Risk 
Register.

The report recommended:-
that the Committee note the contents of the report.

The Committee heard Emma Virasami provide an update in relation to the current situation 
and actions taken to mitigate risks at Rosewell House, highlighting the following:-

 weekly meetings were organised with the provider;
 the care plan system with consistent information would be implemented in April 

2020;
 an information leaflet would be circulated in April 2020;
 pathways had been updated;
 three sub-groups had been established to identify aims and objectives for each 

area of service delivery;
 one set of recording notes to be utilised.

It was noted that (1) no current complaints had been received since the last meeting; and 
(2) that a further inspection by the Care Inspectorate was imminent.

Sandy Reid advised that he and Alex Stephen were in attendance at Bon Accord Care 
Board meetings, whereat the predominant focus for discussion had related to the situation 
at Rosewell House.

The Committee resolved:-
(i) to approve the recommendation; and

Page 19



6

CLINICAL AND CARE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
4 February 2020

(ii) to note the information provided.

RAEBURN HEALTHCARE LTD - HSCP/19/106

9. The Committee had before it a report by Emma Virasami which outlined recent 
concerns associated with performance at Raeburn Healthcare Limited. Leading to 
escalation on the Operational Risk Register.

The report recommended:-
that the Committee note the contents of the report.

The Committee heard Emma Virasami provide an update in relation to the current 
situation, indicating that following the poor inspection in October 2019 where grades were 
reduced to a lowly ‘two’, various concerns outlined in the report had been addressed with 
the follow-up inspection revealing significant progress.

Claire Duncan advised of a notification for an Initial Care Review relating to a client at 
Raeburn.

It was acknowledged that all staff will be registered with Scottish Social Service Council 
by 2021

The Committee resolved:-
(i) to approve the recommendation; and 
(ii) to note the information provided.

ITEMS WHERE FURTHER ASSURANCE IS REQUIRED

10. There were no items where further assurance was required. 

ITEMS WHERE ESCALATION IS REQUIRED TO THE IJB

11. There were no items for escalation to the IJB.
- COUNCILLOR LESLEY DUNBAR, Chairperson. 

Page 20



7

CLINICAL AND CARE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
4 February 2020

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

A B C D E F G H I J

Date Created Report Title Minute Reference/Committee Decision or Purpose of Report Report Number Report Author
Lead Officer / 

Business Area

ORGANISATION 

ACHSCP/ACC/NHSG

Update/ 

Status (RAG)

Delayed/ 

Deferred or 

Recommended 

for removal or 

transfer, enter 

either D, R, or T

Explanation if delayed, 

removed or transferred 

Standing Item Chief Officer Report A regular update from the Chief Officer HSCP19110 Martin Allan Business Lead ACHSCP

04.09.2019 Market Facilitation Update HSCP19114
Anne 

McKenzie

Commissioning 

Lead
ACHSCP

11.11.2019
Grampian Mental Health Strategy 

HSCP19108

Sandra 

MacLeod/ Kay 

Dunn

Chief Officer ACHSCP Bring Forward 
Bring Forward to March 

10th Meeting 

18.12.2019
HASS Technology (CM2000)

HSCP19116
 Gail 

Woodcock 
Digital ACHSCP

13.01.2020
Carers Expense Policy

HSCP19118
Alison 

MacLeod
Performance Lead ACHSCP

Revised Scheme of Integration to 

Host Grampian-wide Mental Health and 

Learning Disability Services  

HSCP19107 Kay Dunn Chief Officer ACHSCP

Countesswells 

Interim arrangements - authorisation project point.

HSCP19109

Alison 

MacLeod/ 

Sarah Gibbon

 Capital ACHSCP Bring Forward 
Bring Forward to  March 

24th Meeting

22.01.20 Strategic Risk Register

On 21.01.2020, from the report Strategic Risk - HSCP 19.086The Board resolved :-

(i)	to approve recommendations (a) and (c)

(ii)	to note recommendation (b) and instruct the Chief Officer to obtain legal direction 

to revisit Risk 1 specifically in regards to ‘Provider of Last Resort’ and to report to the 

Board on 11 February 2020. IJB on 11.02 deferred until 24.03.20

Martin Allan Business Lead ACHSCP D

CoVid-19 measures : IJB 

have had sight of risks 

recently -delay 

30.09.2019

Social Care – Self-directed support: 

Transformational Funding 2019-21 and 

Reporting on Impact and Learning

HSCP19119
Alison 

MacLeod
Performance Lead ACHSCP T

CoVid-19 measures : 

Service Update

29.01.2020 Mental Health Delivery Plan HSCP19113
Kevin D / 

Jenny Rae 

Mental Health 

Lead
ACHSCP T

CoVid-19 measures : 

move to 01/12/20

26.03.2019 Health Improvement Fund

IJB 26.03.19 Article 12 - The Board instructed the Chief Officer to bring an annual 

report relating to the Health Improvement Fund to the IJB in April 2020 and annually 

thereafter.

HSCP19112 Gail Woodcock
Transformation 

Lead
ACHSCP R

CoVid-19 measures : 

Service Update

19.11.2019
Review of commissioned Day Care 

Services - an update

On 19.11.2019, The Board resolved:-  (i)	to note progress made with the review, and 

that a final recommendation will be made to the IJB in March 2020.
HSCP19111

Anne 

McKenzie

Commissioning 

Lead
ACHSCP D

CoVid-19 measures : 

Delay

15.01.2020

Denburn Full Business Case 

HSCP19115
Alison 

MacLeod
Capital Team ACHSCP R

CoVid-19 measures : 

Incorporate key 

information in Chief 

Officers Report

25.02.2020

Scottish Public Services Ombudsman - 

Revised Model Complaints Handling 

Procedure

To provide an update on the the updated Model Complaints Handling Procedure 

(MCHP) for Scottish Government, Scottish Parliament and Associ

ated Public Authorities.
HSCP19117 Martin Allan Business Lead ACHSCP R

CoVid-19 measures: 

consider Service Update 

or report to RAPC

Standing Item Strategic Risk Register	Martin Allan  Bi-Annual - January and June Martin Allan Business Lead ACHSCP

19.11.19 Training and Development Plan for IJB  Martin Allan Business Lead ACHSCP

Standing Item
Annual Update Autism & Learning 

Disabilities 

IJB 20200128 - move to June 2020
Kevin Dawson

Learning 

Disabilities Lead
ACHSCP

26.03.2019 Diet, Activity and Healthy Weight

IJB 26.03.19 Article 17 - The Board instructed the Chief Officer that an annual update 

on ACHSCP GCGF is presented to the IJB, and (v) Instruct the Chief Officer that the 

Grampian consultation strategies for Tobacco and Diet, Activity and Healthy Weight 

are presented to the Board. To be reported to 23.06.20 meeting from PreAgenda on 

29.01.20, then IJB on 11.02.20

Gail Woodcock
Transformation 

Lead
ACHSCP

04.09.2019 Immunisations
Following comment at IJB on 03.09.2019, future reporting requested

Gail Woodcock
Transformation 

Lead
ACHSCP

Standing Item Review of Scheme of Integration 
Annual review. IJB 20200128 move to June 2020

Jess Anderson
Chief Officer - 

Governance
ACC

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD BUSINESS PLANNER                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

The Business Planner details the reports which have been instructed by the Committee as well as reports which the Functions expect to be submitting for the calendar year.

24 March 2020

23 June 2020

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 7



2

A B C D E F G H I J

Date Created Report Title Minute Reference/Committee Decision or Purpose of Report Report Number Report Author
Lead Officer / 

Business Area

ORGANISATION 

ACHSCP/ACC/NHSG

Update/ 

Status (RAG)

Delayed/ 

Deferred or 

Recommended 

for removal or 

transfer, enter 

either D, R, or T

Explanation if delayed, 

removed or transferred 

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

19.11.2019 Review of Governance (ACC)

On 19.11.2019, the IJB resolved to note that Aberdeen City Council is currently 

reviewing its Scheme of Governance. A report on this will be submitted to Council on 2 

March 2020. Council Officers will evaluate these changes and inform the IJB of any 

changes that will impact the business of the ACHSCP or the IJB and its sub-

committees. This update will be brought to the IJB meeting immediately following the 

March 2020 Council meeting. IJB 28.01.20 - can be heard in June 2020

Fraser Bell
Chief Officer - 

Governance
ACC

19.11.2019

Local Survey On 19.11.2019, the IJB resolved to instruct the Chief Officer to bring forward a further 

report following publication of the results of the current national survey which are 

expected in April 2020 along with details of actions undertaken to address those areas 

of the survey which would benefit from improvement. This report will come to the June 

meeting of the IJB.

Alison 

MacLeod
Performance Lead ACHSCP

Standing Item Chief Oficer Report A regular update from the Chief Officer Martin Allan Business Lead ACHSCP

11.11.2019
Livingwell with Dementia Alison 

MacLeod 
Performance Lead ACHSCP

Standing Item
Annual Report on Alcohol and Drug 

Partnership 

IJB 20200128 - moved to June 2020

Simon Rayner
Alcohol & Drug 

Lead
ACHSCP

CoVid-19 measures : 

Report to next CCG then 

to IJB in September

30.09.2019

Social Care – Self-directed support: 

Transformational Funding 2019-21 and 

Reporting on Impact and Learning

To be reported to 23.06.20 meeting from PreAgenda on 29.01.20, then IJB on 

11.02.20 Alison 

MacLeod 
Performance Lead ACHSCP T

Going as Service Update 

March 2020

11.12.2018 Autism Strategy and Action Plan 

IJB 11.12.18 Article 13 - The Board noted that progress reports on the implementation 

of the above would be provided annually, with updates to the Clinical Care and 

Governance Committee in the interim. Suggested April 2020, then To be reported to 

23.06.20 meeting and combined with Annual Update (from PreAgenda on 29.01.20 

and IJB on 11.02.20).

Kevin Dawson
Learning 

Disabilities Lead
ACHSCP T

To be reported to 

23.06.20 meeting and 

combined with Annual 

Update (from PreAgenda 

on 29.01.20) ; CoVid-19 

measures : Report to 

CCG then Service 

Update to IJB

11.06.2019

MSG Self Evaluation for the Review of 

progress with Integration of Health and 

Social Care

IJB 11.06.2019 -  Instructed the Chief Officer to provide an update on progress on 

delivery of the actions in March 2020. IJB 20200128 Move to June 2020 HSCP19120
Alison 

MacLeod
Performance Lead ACHSCP

CoVid-19 measures : 

Service Update to RAPC

11.06.2019

MSG Self Evaluation for the Review of 

progress with Integration of Health and 

Social Care

IJB 11.06.2019 -  Instructed the Chief Officer to provide an update on progress on 

delivery of the actions in March 2020. IJB 28.01.2020 - move to June 2020 Alison 

MacLeod 
Performance Lead ACHSCP

CoVid-19 measures: 

consider Service Update 

or report to RAPC

Standing Item Annual Report 

The purpose of this report is to obtain IJB approval of the partnership’s annual 

performance report for 2018-19 and its agreement that the approved report should be 

published and also presented to Aberdeen City Council and NHS Grampian for their 

information.  

Alison 

MacLeod
Performance Lead ACHSCP

Standing Item MSG & National Performance Report  Included within Annual Report Included within Alison Performance Lead ACHSCP

Standing Item Winter Plan 

The Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership is required to develop a 

“Winter Plan” each year to reflect arrangements to support activity over the winter 

period.  The draft Winter Plan before the IJB for period 2019/20 is contained in 

Appendix One to this report.

Jason Nicol SOARs Lead ACHSCP

22.01.2020
Update on Tasking & Coordinating 

Group Activity within ADP

On 21.01.2020, from the Update on the Alcohol and Drug Partnership Delivery Plan 

and Investment - HSCP.19.087, the Board resolved :-

(i)	to approve the recommendations, 

(ii)	to note the creation of a Tasking and Coordinating Group (TCG) to expedite the 

required spending, and

(iii)	to instruct the Chief Officer to report on the status of the TCG activities to IJB on 8 

September 2020.

Simon Rayner
Alcohol & Drug 

Lead
ACHSCP

Standing Item Chief Oficer Report A regular update from the Chief Officer Martin Allan Business Lead ACHSCP

08 September 2020

P
age 24



1

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1. The purpose of the report is to provide the Integrated Joint Board (IJB) with 
an update from the Chief Officer  

2. Recommendations 

2.1. It is recommended that the Integration Joint Board note the content of the 
report.

3. Summary of Key Information

Local Updates

3.1.  Localities-

 Locality Empowerment Groups (LEG’s):

More than 30 community members have contacted the Partnership to tell   
us that they are interested in getting involved. This follows a significant level 

Date of Meeting 24 March 2020

Report Title Chief Officer’s Report

Report Number HSCP.

Lead Officer Sandra Macleod

Report Author Details 
Sandra Macleod
Chief Officer
samacleod@aberdeencity.gov.uk

Consultation Checklist Completed Yes

Directions Required No

Appendices None

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



2

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
of promotional activity, including a social media campaign and local media 
coverage. The people who have been in touch come from a range of 
backgrounds and experiences and have different reasons for wanting to get 
involved. Three information sessions will take place in March – in 
Tillydrone, Kaimhill and Dyce. These sessions will give these potential 
members the chance to get to know each other, find out more about the 
LEGs and explore how community members can become involved in 
shaping local health and social care services in collaboration with 
operational staff. A frequently-asked-questions sheet has also been 
produced.

Implementing operational teams aligned to localities:

Aligning operational teams to our localities is one of the Partnership’s top 
priorities for 2020/21, in accordance with our Medium-Term Financial 
Framework. This will create the conditions for operational staff to work co-
productively with partners and communities, via our Locality Empowerment 
Groups in due course. This work has been kicked off through the creation 
of a project team and a project reference group. The project reference 
group consists of all staff who report to a member of the Leadership Team, 
as well as staff side and trade union colleagues and the Partnership’s 
Public Health Coordinators. At the first reference group workshop, 
colleagues heard the Chief Officer outline the three-phase approach that 
will be implemented. The first stage is aligning all staff to localities, which is 
due for completion at the end of March 2020. The second stage will involve 
the extensive redesign and reorganisation of teams to maximise 
opportunities to meet the needs of our communities in a person-centred 
way. This work will seek to create the conditions that will ensure effective 
cross-system working to including our staff, communities and partners in 
the co-production of services to best meet people’s needs. The third phase 
will be the final stage of fully integrated locality working.  We will produce 
regular update communications as locality-alignment progresses.

3.2 Criminal Justice-Care Inspectorate Inspection-

A formal notification was received from the Care Inspectorate to advise of 
an inspection of justice social work during January to April 2020.  The 
notification gave detail of the timings for each stage of the inspection and 
the quality indicators that the Partnership will be inspected against. The 
focus of the inspection is on Community Payback Orders (CPO) only and 
there are 9 quality indicators within the inspection. There are 5 stages to 
the inspection.

Page 26



3

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
 Stage 1 – notification, preparation and engagement stage. Meeting 

held 10th January, pre inspection information submitted on 17th January 
2020

 Stage 2 – Self Evaluation and supporting evidence. Submitted 19th 
February 2020. 

 Stage 3 - Case file reading. Week commencing 2nd March 2020 – 
sample of 100 files chosen from a list of 2000 records of CPO’s over last 2 
years (submitted to inspectors on 17th January 2020) read.

 Stage 4 – Onsite activity. Weeks commencing 16 & 30 March 2020 - 
focus groups with staff, managers and leaders, as well as service 
users/groups.   These are based on the findings and evidence from stages 
2 & 3 and will incorporate feedback from self-evaluation and file reading.  

 Stage 5 – Published report. Verbal feedback on the findings will be given 
on 20 April with the draft report expected on 8th May. Inspection report will 
is due to be published in June 2020.   

An Inspection Steering Group has been established and a lot of preparatory 
work has already been undertaken. Officers have submitted to the Care 
Inspectorate the self-evaluation against the nine pre-identified indicators 
from the Outcomes, Performance and Improvement Framework.  In 
addition, eighty-nine pieces of supporting evidence including a data 
summary were also submitted for their consideration.   The Care 
Inspectorate have delivered training in respect of their case file reading 
process to staff who will join the inspectors in undertaking the scrutiny of 
the pre-selected files.

A meeting with the Care Inspectorate took place on Friday 13th March 
2020.   We received positive verbal feedback on the self-evaluation and file 
reading with a large proportion of files noted as being good, or very good.  
We were also advised, however, that with the current situation surrounding 
Covid-19, the inspection is now suspended, and the planned onsite activity 
and report publication timescale is therefore cancelled.  The Inspectorate 
will be back in touch in a few months to review the situation and determine 
a timescale for re-commencement of the inspection process.  

3.3 Denburn Development Project Full Business Case Update

The finalised Full Business Case (FBC), for the Denburn Development 
Project was due to be presented to the NHS Grampian Board in April 2020   
In recent weeks, however, it has become apparent that this will no longer 
be possible due to design assurance review outcomes resulting in delayed 
market testing.   The current overall impact of this on project cost and 
programme timeline is still unknown.

Page 27



4

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
Recent publicity on construction defects found on a number of newly 
constructed health projects in Edinburgh and Glasgow has intensified a 
need for the NHS to carry out more diligence in terms of seeking additional 
assurances on contractor’s designs.  The Project Director has introduced a 
more robust, best practice diligence process, a Design Assurance Review.   
This provides learning and reasonable and proportionate assurance of the 
competency or otherwise of contractor’s design and construction 
methodologies.    

National Updates 

4.1 Digital Office for Scottish Local Government
 

We continue to progress our links with the Digital Office for Scottish Local 
Government.  We have been working closely with this office to define and 
develop a workshop relating to the transition of analogue to digital telecare.  
In partnership with Aberdeenshire HSCP we plan to host a North of 
Scotland regional workshop on the 29th April 2019, however this may need 
to be postponed should the Covid-19 situation escalate. When it does go 
ahead, this will be the first regional workshop to be held in Scotland.

 
The event aims to raise awareness of the national picture for digital telecare 
across Scotland, the challenges that may be faced when making the 
transition from analogue to digital telecare and the resources that are 
available to support this transition. We will also have presentations from key 
stakeholders across the region and interactive workshops exploring the 
Digital Telecare Playbook and the identification of the needs of the 
partnerships within the region. 

 
Partnership colleagues who are involved in the transition to digital telecare 
from Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire, Moray, Angus and Dundee City 
Council are the target audience for this event. Colleagues will be welcomed 
from various areas including customer services, IT, project management 
staff, sheltered housing management and any other senior managers who 
play a key role in making digital telecare decisions.

 
4.2 Digital Health and Care Institute (DHI)
 

We are pleased to share that we have a growing relationship with 
colleagues from Scotland's Digital Health and Care Institute (DHI).  The 
DHI play a pivotal role inspiring, enabling and combining world-leading 
industry and academic expertise with service, business and technical 
innovation to create person-centred digital health and care innovations to 
positively impact society.  Professor George Crooks (CEO) was invited to 

Page 28



5

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
Aberdeen last summer to meet with the Leadership and Transformation 
Teams.  Professor Crooks and his team are supporting a number of 
developing transformation projects as well as providing peer support to our 
digital team.  We look forward to sharing these developments over the next 
year. 

5 Implications for IJB 

5.1Equalities – there are no implications in relation to our duty under the 
Equalities Act 2010

5.2Fairer Scotland Duty - there are no implications in relation to the Fairer 
Scotland Duty

5.3Financial – there are no immediate financial implications arising from this 
report.

5.4Workforce – there are no immediate workforce implications arising from this 
report.   Relevant Workforce implications will be highlighted in any future report 
on action required in relation to Carden Medical Practice.

5.5Legal – there are no immediate legal implications arising from this report

5.6Other- there are no other immediate implications arising from this report.

6 Links to ACHSCP Strategic Plan 

6.1The Chief Officers update is linked to current areas of note relevant to the 
overall delivery of the Strategic Plan.  

7 Management of Risk 

7.1     Identified risks

The issues at Carden Medical Practice could potentially impact on our 
ability to deliver services in this area.

7.2.1 Link to risks on strategic or operational risk register: 

Page 29



6

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
The main issues in this report directly link to the following risks on the 
Strategic Risk Register:

1-There is a risk that there is insufficient capacity in the market (or 
appropriate infrastructure in-house) to fulfil the IJB’s duties as outlined in 
the integration scheme. This includes commissioned services and general 
medical services.

3- There is a risk that the outcomes expected from hosted services are not 
delivered and that the IJB does not identify non-performance in through its 
systems. This risk relates to services that Aberdeen IJB hosts on behalf of 
Moray and Aberdeenshire, and those hosted by those IJBs and delivered 
on behalf of Aberdeen City.

5-There is a risk that the IJB, and the services that it directs and has 
operational oversight of, fail to meet both performance standards/outcomes 
as set by regulatory bodies and those locally-determined performance 
standards as set by the board itself. This may result in harm or risk of harm 
to people.

7- Failure to deliver transformation at a pace or scale required by the 
demographic and financial pressures in the system.

7.3    How might the content of this report impact or mitigate these risks:

This report details the mitigating action being taken to manage these risks.   
The Chief Officer will monitor progress towards mitigating the areas of risk 
closely and will provide further detail to the IJB should she deem this 
necessary

Approvals 

These will be added once your report 
has final approval for submission to 
committee. 

Sandra Macleod
(Chief Officer)

These will be added once your report 
has final approval for submission to 
committee.

Alex Stephen 
(Chief Finance Officer)

Page 30



1

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to advise the Integration Joint Board (IJB) of the 
transfer of operational and budget responsibility for Grampian-wide Mental 
Health and Learning Disability Services (MHLD) to the Chief Officer of 
Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP); to seek 
agreement from the IJB that it hosts MHLD services on behalf of 
Aberdeenshire and Moray IJB’s and that it accepts the financial 
arrangements around that; and to give prior notice of the related changes 
proposed to the Integration Scheme.     

2. Recommendations 

It is recommended that the Integration Joint Board: 

a) Note that NHS Grampian (NHSG) will be delegating operational 
responsibility and the associated budget for Grampian-wide inpatient 
and specialist Mental Health and Learning Disability Services to the 
Chief Officer of the Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership 

Date of Meeting 24th of March 2020  

Report Title
Revised Scheme of Integration to Host 
Grampian-wide Mental Health and 
Learning Disability Services 

Report Number HSCP.19.107

Lead Officer Sandra MacLeod Chief Officer     

Report Author Details 

Name: Kay Dunn  
Job Title: Lead Planning Manager 
(Grampian MHLD Review) 
Email Address: kay.dunn1@nhs.net 
Phone Number: 01224 557840 

Consultation Checklist Completed Yes

Directions Required No

Appendices None 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9

mailto:kay.dunn1@nhs.net


2

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
(HSCP) which will be set out in Annex 1, Part 2 B of the Integration 
Scheme;  

b) Consider and agree to the proposal that Aberdeen City Integrated 
Joint Board (IJB) hosts Grampian-wide inpatient and specialist Mental 
Health and Learning Disability (MHLD) Services on behalf of 
Aberdeenshire IJB and Moray IJB;  

c) Note that NHSG will continue to fund any deficit arising from the 
inpatient and specialist Mental Health and Learning Disability Services 
delegated under these arrangements; 

d) Note the proposals to amend the Integration Scheme for Aberdeen 
City and that it will be revised and submitted to Aberdeen City Council 
and NHSG for approval. 
 

3. Summary of Key Information

Operational Responsibility for Grampian-wide MHLD Services 

3.1 In April 2016, NHS Grampian delegated the strategic planning and 
management of community-based Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Services (MHLD) to Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs.  
Community based services include Adult Community Mental Health Teams, 
Older Adult Community Mental Health Teams, Substance Misuse Services 
and Learning Disability Community Teams.  Moray Integration Joint Board 
(IJB) also has delegated authority for the inpatient services at Dr Gray’s 
Hospital in Elgin (Ward 4) and Seafield Hospital in Buckie (Muirton Ward).  
Aberdeenshire IJB has delegated authority for inpatient services in 
community hospitals at Fraserburgh (Bruckley Ward), Inverurie (Ashcroft 
Ward) and Banchory (Scolty Ward).

3.2 The IJB currently has the responsibility for the strategic planning of delegated 
services.  However, NHSG currently has responsibility for the operational 
management of Grampian-wide inpatient and specialist MHLD Services 
which includes the following: 

 Inpatient and specialist services at the Royal Cornhill Hospital
 Inpatient and specialist services at Elmwood at Royal Cornhill Hospital 
 Residential Community Rehabilitation Service at Polmuir Road
 Residential Forensic Community Rehabilitation Facility at Great 

Western Lodge
 Psychotherapy (outpatient)
 Eating Disorder Service (outpatient)
 Eden Unit (North of Scotland) 

Page 32



3

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
 Managed Clinical Network for Eating Disorders
 Adult Liaison Psychiatry Service
 Older Adult Liaison Psychiatry Service
 Unscheduled Care
 Rehabilitation Services (outpatient) for Adult Mental Health
 Forensic Services
 Perinatal Services 
 Gender Identity Services
 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
 Business and Support Management Services across inpatient and 

specialist services

Finances for Grampian-wide MHLD Services 

3.3 The Net Budget for Grampian MHLD Services for 2020 to 2021 is £37M and 
NHSG Finance are forecasting a £1.8M overspend.  The Grampian MHLD 
Services are also planning to achieve a 2% efficiency (£750,000) so the 
expected budget to be transferred by NHSG to cover the projected spend is 
£38M (subject to inflation and earmarked funds adjustments).

3.4 Given the financial pressures in the whole system there is an expectation that 
any service delegated is fully funded, so as not to place financial pressure on 
the IJBs or the other partners who may need to pick-up a share of any 
overspend.  

3.5 On 1st of April 2020, NHS Grampian plan to transfer the revenue budget to 
the IJBs and will ensure resource is available for the forecasted spend on 
Grampian-wide inpatient and specialist MHLD Services. There is currently a 
financial deficit within the inpatient and specialist MHLD services.  NHS 
Grampian have agreed to underwrite any financial loss on inpatient and 
specialist MHLD Services for up to two financial years (from 1st of April 2020 
to 31st of March 2022).     

3.6 If a financial deficit remains at the end of this period, then after discussion 
and agreement with NHS Grampian, the three IJBs and the respective local 
authorities an agreed budget will be proposed for approval.

3.7 This option has been used by other areas when delegating services to 
provide some protection to the IJBs over the transition period.  The Chief 
Officer for Aberdeen City IJB would have operational responsibility for the 
service and operational budget responsibility.  This will allow time for the 
Transformation Board (Grampian MHLD) to develop a Transformation 
Programme Plan to deliver the strategic intent set out in the Grampian-wide 

Page 33



4

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
Framework and secure a more sustainable model of care to better balance a 
population approach, person centred care and achieving best value.   

Transition to Host Arrangements  

3.8 For a service or function to be delegated, Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and 
Moray IJBs, Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray Councils and NHSG 
need to agree that this is a reasonable course of action. Paragraph 4.7 of the 
Integration Scheme provides for an arrangement whereby an IJB hosts 
delegated services on behalf of other integration authorities. Where this is 
the case, the IJB will consider and agree the hosting arrangements. 

3.9 The Scheme of Integration already delegates the functions and services for 
all Mental Health and Learning Disability Services from NHSG and Aberdeen 
City Council to the Aberdeen City IJB.  However, NHSG has not transferred 
the operational responsibility and budget for Grampian-wide inpatient and 
specialist Mental Health and Learning Disability Services.      

3.10 NHSG recently made an undertaking to the Scottish Government that this 
will be done by the 1st of April 2020.  In line with the transition of delegatory 
responsibility to the Chief Officer, Aberdeen City IJB, for the operational 
management and associated budget of the Grampian-wide inpatient and 
specialist MHLD Services, the proposal would then be for these services to 
be hosted by Aberdeen City IJB from1st of April 2020 on behalf of 
Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs.  

3.11 In preparation for readiness, a Transitions Steering Group (Grampian MHLD) 
was established in December 2019 to ensure the effective governance, 
management, delivery and monitoring of Grampian-wide inpatient and 
specialist MHLD Services as we transition to host arrangements.  There is 
representation from clinical, professional, service/business support and 
staffside across NHS Grampian and Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and 
Moray IJBs.  The Transitions Steering Group (Grampian MHLD) has 
developed a Governance Framework to ensure clear lines of financial, 
clinical and care governance and educational governance are in place across 
delegated community MHLD and hosted inpatient and specialist MHLD 
Services to ensure an integrated whole system approach.  

3.12 Following transition to host arrangements, the IJB would continue to liaise 
with the relevant bodies across the North of Scotland and nationally in the 
provision of inpatient and specialist services (e.g. inpatient beds for Orkney 
and Shetland and the Eden Unit for the North of Scotland).  The IJB will also 
continue to liaise with the relevant national bodies to purchase inpatient beds 

Page 34



5

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
for medium secure at Rohallian Perth and inpatient services for young people 
in Dudhope Dundee.     

Changes to the Scheme of Integration 

3.13 A review of the Integration Scheme is currently being taken forward by the 
Chief Officer and it is planned to consult with the public on these 
amendments where appropriate before reporting to the Council and NHSG 
for approval. To date the majority of the changes are to reflect decisions that 
are already been adopted by the IJB, such as changes to their strategic plans 
or standing orders.  

3.14 The IJB will be required to amend the Scheme of Governance to delegate 
operational delivery and the budget of those services to the Chief Officer of 
the Aberdeen City HSCP.   

4. Implications for IJB 

Equalities

4.1 The transition of NHSG inpatient and specialist MHLD Services to Aberdeen 
City IJB to host on behalf of the three Integration Authorities will have no 
direct impact on service users, carers, families or the community.  The 
transition to host arrangements does not lead directly to any change to 
current way services are planned and delivered.  An Equalities Human Right 
Impact Assessment Report has been completed and submitted to committee 
services.  

Fairer Scotland Duty

4.2 The transition of NHSG inpatient and specialist MHLD Services to Aberdeen 
City IJB to host on behalf of the three Integration Authorities will not directly 
change service delivery arrangements but ensure the governance around the 
management of services is more integrated.  The impact will be felt with the 
strategic planning of services which are included in host arrangements.  The 
development of the Grampian-wide Strategic Framework and respective 
Transformation Programme Plan will take account of the Fairer Scotland 
Duty and further Equality and Human Right Impact Assessments (EHRIA) 
will be undertaken.
  

Page 35



6

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
Financial 

4.3 The Net Budget for Grampian MHLD Services for 2020 to 2021 is £37M and 
NHSG Finance are forecasting a £1.8M overspend.  The Grampian MHLD 
Services are also planning to achieve a 2% efficiency (£750,000) so the 
expected budget to be transferred by NHSG to cover the projected spend 
is £38M (subject to inflation and earmarked funds adjustments).  NHS 
Grampian have agreed to underwrite any financial loss on inpatient and 
specialist MHLD Services for up to two financial years (from 1st of April 2020 
to 31st of March 2022).

4.4 There are no direct financial risks arising from the approval of the Strategic 
Framework.  The Transformation Programme Plan will aim to ensure whole 
system collaboration to better balance a population approach, person 
centred care and secure best value with the available resources. 

4.5 If a financial deficit remains at the end of this period, then after discussion 
and agreement with NHS Grampian, the three IJBs and the respective local 
authorities, an agreed budget will be proposed for approval by respective 
Boards.  

Workforce

4.6 The delegated functions will not lead to changes in the Terms and Conditions 
of staff, who will remain employed by the NHS Grampian, Aberdeen City 
Council, Aberdeenshire Council or Moray Council.  

4.7 A change to line management arrangements will be for the Head of NHSG 
Mental Health and Learning Disability Services who will now report to the 
Chief Officer for Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP) 
and the Clinical Director/Medical Director for Mental Health and Learning 
Disabilities who will now report on operational matters to the Chief Officer for 
Aberdeen City HSCP.  The Clinical/Medical Director will also continue to 
report to professional medical matters and clinical governance to the Medical 
Director for NHSG.  Both will join the Aberdeen City Health & Social Care 
Partnership Leadership Team. 

4.8 The Medical Director and Executive Nurse Director in NHSG continue to 
remain responsible for the assurance of clinical and care governance across 
delegated and hosted Mental Health and Learning Disability Services 
(community, inpatients and specialist) on behalf of the 3 Integration 
Authorities and NHSG.      

Legal

Page 36



7

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

4.9 The revised Scheme of Integration ensures compliance with the legislative 
framework for the IJB. 

Other

4.10 None identified.  

5. Links to ACHSCP Strategic Plan 

5.1 Resilience - Working with our partners to support people so that they can cope 
with, and where possible, overcome the health and wellbeing challenges they 
may face.  

5.2 Personalisation – Ensuring that the right care is provided at the right place at 
the right time when people are in need. Ensuring that our systems as are 
simple and efficient as possible. 

6. Management of Risk 

Financial Risk 

6.1 The Grampian MHLD Services are also planning to achieve a 2% efficiency 
(£750,000). 

6.2 The Net Budget for Grampian MHLD Services for 2020 to 2021 is £37M and 
NHSG Finance are forecasting a £1.8M overspend.  The Grampian MHLD 
Services are also planning to achieve a 2% efficiency (£750,000) so the 
expected budget to be transferred by NHSG to cover the projected spend is 
£38M (subject to inflation and earmarked funds adjustments).  NHS Grampian 
have agreed to underwrite any financial loss on inpatient and specialist MHLD 
Services for up to two financial years (from 1st of April 2020 to 31st of March 
2022).  

6.3 If a financial deficit remains at the end of this period, then after discussion and 
agreement with NHS Grampian, the three IJBs and the respective local 
authorities, an agreed budget will be proposed for approval by respective 
Boards.  

6.4 There are no direct financial risks arising from the approval of the Strategic 
Framework.  The Transformation Programme Plan will aim to ensure whole 
system collaboration to better balance a population approach, person centred 

Page 37



8

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
care and secure best value with the available resource.  Any financial 
implications arising from the Transformation Programme will be fully appraised 
and considered for approval by the IJBs and NHSG.

Governance Risk 

6.5 There is a perceived risk that transition to delegated services could have an 
impact on the clinical and care governance of inpatient and specialist MHLD 
Services.  In order to provide assurance, the Transitions Steering Group 
(Grampian MHLD) has developed a Governance Framework to set out clinical, 
care and financial governance arrangements for delegated community 
services across Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs and delegated 
inpatient and specialist services hosted by Aberdeen City IJB on behalf of the 
Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs.    

Legal Risk 

6.6 No direct legal risks have been identified at this time.  Any major change to 
service delivery arising from the development of the Transformation 
Programme Plan will be managed in line with the guidance set out in the 
Scottish Health Councils Major Service Change process and timeline for public 
consultation.   

7.     Link to risks on strategic or operational risk register: 

2. There is a risk of financial failure, that demand outstrips budget and IJB 
cannot deliver on priorities, statutory work, and projects an overspend. 

High 

3. There is a risk that the outcomes expected from hosted services are not 
delivered and that the IJB does not identify non-performance in through its 
systems. This risk relates to services that Aberdeen IJB hosts on behalf of 
Moray and Aberdeenshire, and those hosted by those IJBs and delivered 
on behalf of Aberdeen City.

High 

4. There is a risk that relationship arrangements between the IJB and its 
partner organisations (Aberdeen City Council & NHS Grampian) are not 
managed to maximise the full potentials of integrated & collaborative 
working. This risk covers the arrangements between partner organisations 
in areas such as governance; corporate service; and performance.

Low 

6. There is a risk of reputational damage to the IJB and its partner 
organisations resulting from complexity of function, delegation and 
delivery of services across health and social care.

Medium 

Page 38



9

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
How might the content of this report impact or mitigate these risks:

7.1 Risk 2 – The financial arrangements aims to mitigate the financial risk of the 
gap between the budget and actual spend trends for inpatient and specialist 
MHLD Services. 

7.2 Risk 3 – The development of a Performance Dash Board for Grampian-wide 
MHLD Services will ensure implementation of the 30 National Quality 
Indicators and other nationally and locally directed Key Performance to 
ensure the effective monitoring and reporting of community, inpatient and 
specialist MHLD Services to the respective NHSG and IJB Boards. 

7.3 Risk 4 – The Sponsoring Group for all delegated hosted services is the North 
East System Wide Transformation Board to ensure cross system working 
across NHSG, IJBs and Council partners. 

7.4 Risk 6 – The development of a robust Governance Framework for Grampian-
wide MHLD Services (community, inpatient and specialist) will ensure clarity 
of function, delegation and delivery of services across health and social care 
for delegated community and delegated inpatient and specialist services 
hosted by the Aberdeen City IJB.  

Approvals 
These will be added once your report 
has final approval for submission to 
committee. 

Sandra MacLeod
(Chief Officer)

These will be added once your report 
has final approval for submission to 
committee.

Alex Stephen 
(Chief Finance Officer)

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



1

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1. The purpose of the report is to seek approval of the Grampian-wide Strategic 
Framework for Mental Health and Learning Disability (MHLD) 2020-2025.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1. It is recommended that the Integration Joint Board (IJB): 

a) Approve the Grampian-wide Strategic Framework for Mental Health 
and Learning Disability (MHLD) 2020-2025 [appendix a]. 

b) Note Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership (AC-HSCP), 
Aberdeenshire HSCP (A-HSCP) and Moray HSCP (M-HSCP) plan to 
refresh their respective Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Strategy/(ies) for community-based services in 2022.  

Date of Meeting 24th March 2020  

Report Title
Grampian-wide Strategic Framework for 
Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Services 2020-2025. 

Report Number HSCP.19.108

Lead Officer Sandra MacLeod, Chief Officer     

Report Author Details 

Name: Kay Dunn  
Job Title: Lead Planning Manager 
(Grampian MHLD Review) 
Email Address: kay.dunn1@nhs.net 
Phone Number: 01224 557840 

Consultation Checklist Completed Yes

Directions Required No 

Appendices 

a. Grampian-wide Strategic 
Framework for Mental Health and 
Learning Disability (2020-2025)  

Page 41

Agenda Item 10

mailto:kay.dunn1@nhs.net


2

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
c) Instruct the Chief Officer to report back on the Performance 

Framework and Programme Transformation Plan to Aberdeen City 
IJB on the 25th June 2020, Aberdeenshire IJB on 24th of June and 
Moray IJB on 26th of June to provide assurance of detailed plans for 
service redesign, timelines and measures to monitor progress and 
sustainability.     

3. Summary of Key Information

Developing the Framework 

3.1 In May 2019, the three Integration Joint Boards (IJBs) and the Senior 
Leadership Team of NHS Grampian (NHSG) jointly made a commitment to 
carry out a strategic review to place the Grampian system-wide Mental 
Health and Learning Disability (MHLD) Services on a more sustainable 
footing. 

3.2 The development of the Strategic Framework included a staff survey and four 
staff engagement workshops to ensure input from a broad range of 
stakeholders. Between 60 and 70 people attended the workshops which 
covered:

 Workshop One – current challenges and opportunities for transforming 
services

 Workshop Two – moving from business as usual to the envisioned future 
state

 Workshop Three – reviewing feedback from the consultation with people 
with lived experience of services, conducted by the Health and Social 
Care Alliance

 Workshop Four – consolidation event to consider the emerging views for 
the future shape of services

3.3 The Health and Social Care Alliance (the Alliance) undertook a Grampian-wide 
consultation process to engage local people, communities and third sector 
organisations in informing the Grampian strategic review of integrated services 
for people who have mental health problems and those with mental health 
problems as well as learning disability needs.  The Alliance held six afternoon 
and evening engagement events in five geographical areas across Grampian.

3.4 In total 124 people participated in the events and in excess of 650 responses, 
comments and statements were given. The outcome of this process was a 
comprehensive report from the Alliance: Listening to the Voices and 

Page 42



3

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
Contribution of People.  The feedback has been welcomed and has been 
actively used to inform the Strategic Framework.  

3.5 The Grampian-wide Strategic Framework for MHLD (2020-2025) aims to 
respond to all individuals, families and carers who have mental health 
problems, including those with mental health problems and a learning disability 
who require support whether their needs can be met at home, in their 
community or in an inpatient or specialist service setting.  

Summary of Key Messages 

3.6 The executive summary sets out the following key messages: 

 Services will integrate across partners based on the needs of the 
population rather than preserving institutional and professional 
boundaries 

 We need to focus on a shared vision of collaborative leadership in order 
to shift demand for services upstream 

 The population should be able to access services as local as possible 
and as specialist as necessary 

 The ongoing challenge to recruit to clinical and nursing posts in mental 
health and learning disability services is also impacting on the 
sustainability of our current model of care 

 The current model of care is no longer fit for purpose if we are to meet 
the increasing demand and more complex needs of a changing 
demographic 

 We need to consider and design new ways of supporting people, consider 
new roles and how we work together with our partners to meet the 
challenges 

 A change is required to get better at supporting people with maintaining 
their wellbeing and providing timely and effective intervention in the 
community 

 Where we need to support people in a hospital settings, they should have 
timely access to services as specialist as necessary   

 We need to work together to balance a population approach, person 
centred care and securing best value with the available resource 

Page 43



4

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
Leadership 

3.7 In December 2019, a Transitions Steering Group (Grampian MHLD) was 
established to ensure the effective governance, management, delivery and 
monitoring of Grampian-wide inpatient and specialist MHLD Services and 
includes clinical, professional, service/business support and Staffside across 
NHSG and the Integration Authorities.  The planned date for the transition of 
NHSG managed inpatient and specialist MHLD services to Aberdeen City IJB 
to host on behalf of Aberdeenshire IJB and Moray IJB is the 1st of April 2020.  

3.8 In January 2020, a Transformation Board (Grampian MHLD) was established 
to lead the development of a Transformation Programme Plan (Grampian 
MHLD) to ensure the delivery of the strategic intent set out in the Grampian-
wide Strategic Framework for Mental Health and Learning Disability Services 
(MHLD).  The Transformation Board includes representation from the 3 Health 
and Social Care Partnerships (HSCP), MHLD Triumvirate (Clinical and 
Medical Director MHLD, Director of Nursing MHLD, Director of CAHMS and 
Director of Psychology Services NHSG), Third Sector, Police Scotland, 
Scottish Fire and Rescue, the Scottish Ambulance Services, NHS24, 
Workforce and Staffside.  The Transformation Board will focus on short term 
actions to secure a sustainable service as well as medium to long term actions 
to transform the delivery of Grampian inpatient and specialist MHLD to ensure 
the service can meet the future needs of the population. 

3.9 In March 2020, the Transformation Board came together for the second time 
to participate in a System Leadership Workshop to ensure a whole system 
leadership culture across our Grampian wide partners so that we can 
collectively lead the transformation required to put Grampian MHLD on a more 
sustainable footing, ensure a tiered approach, shifting more support upstream 
to community settings and ensuring inpatient and specialist services are 
accessible to those who need it.        

Transformation Programme Plan

3.10 In April 2020, the Transformation Board will consider a Draft Transformation 
Programme Plan (Grampian MHLD).  The Transformation Programme Plan 
will set out the changes required across inpatient and specialist MHLD 
Services and how this will inform the planning and development of community 
MHLD Services delegated to the three IJBs (Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire 
and Moray).  The Transformation Programme Plan will set out a number of 
specific actions across the strategic themes of governance, policy and 
guidance to support integrated working, the redesign of Tier 1 to 4 Services 
(as set out on Page 18 of the Strategic Framework), enablement (technology, 

Page 44



5

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
data, infrastructure, integrated workforce planning) and the development of a 
Quality Indicators Framework (including sustainability measures).  

3.11 In April 2020, the Transformation Board (Grampian MHLD) will establish the 
associated Workstreams so that we can engage further with staff, partners 
and people with lived experience as we move forward with service redesign 
and transformation.  

Performance Framework 

3.12 The Transformation Board (Grampian MHLD) are working with NHSG Health 
Intelligence colleagues to develop a Grampian MHLD Performance 
Framework.  This will include operational data, agreed measures for 
sustainability and the national Quality Indicators and will be embedded in the 
Aberdeen City IJB Performance Dashboard.  Regular performance reporting 
will be undertaken in line with the Aberdeen City IJBs performance reporting 
and shared across NHSG, Aberdeenshire IJB and Moray IJB.     

Governance Framework 

3.13 The Transitions Steering Group (Grampian MHLD) was established in 
December 2019 to ensure the effective governance, management, delivery 
and monitoring of Grampian-wide inpatient and specialist MHLD Services as 
we transition to host arrangements.  There is representation from clinical, 
professional, service/business support and Staffside across NHS Grampian 
and Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs.  The Transitions Steering 
Group (Grampian MHLD) has developed a Governance Framework to ensure 
clear lines of financial, clinical and care governance and educational 
governance are in place across delegated community MHLD and hosted 
inpatient and specialist MHLD Services to ensure an integrated whole system 
approach.  There is agreement across the 3 IJBs and NHSG that a review of 
the governance structures for delegated community MHLD Services and 
hosted inpatient and specialist MHLD Services will be completed by 
September 2020.  The Transformation Board (Grampian MHLD) will take 
account of the recommendation and make any recommended changes.       

Scope of the Framework 

3.14 Grampian inpatient and specialist MHLD Services include the following areas: 

 Inpatient and specialist services at the Royal Cornhill Hospital
 Inpatient and specialist services at Elmwood at Royal Cornhill Hospital 
 Residential Community Rehabilitation Service at Polmuir Road

Page 45



6

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
 Residential Forensic Community Rehabilitation Facility at Great Western 

Lodge
 Psychotherapy (outpatient)
 Eating Disorder Service (outpatient)
 Eden Unit (North of Scotland) 
 Managed Clinical Network for Eating Disorders
 Adult Liaison Psychiatry Service
 Older Adult Liaison Psychiatry Service
 Unscheduled Care
 Rehabilitation Services (outpatient) for Adult Mental Health
 Forensic Services
 Perinatal Services 
 Gender Identity Services
 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
 Business and Support Management Services across inpatient and 

specialist services

3.15 Since April 2016, NHSG delegated the strategic planning and management of 
community based MHLD to Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs.  
This includes Adult Community Mental Health Teams, Older Adult Community 
Mental Health Teams, Substance Misuse Services and Learning Disability 
Community Teams.  Moray IJB also has delegated authority for the inpatient 
services at Dr Gray’s Hospital in Elgin (Ward 4) and Seafield Hospital in Buckie 
(Muirton Ward).  Aberdeenshire IJB also has delegated authority for inpatient 
services in community hospitals at Fraserburgh (Bruckley Ward), Inverurie 
(Ashcroft Ward) and Banchory (Scolty Ward).  Strategic Delivery Plans exist 
across the three IJBs.  A Governance Framework, Communication and 
Stakeholder Engagement Plan and Risk Register for the Grampian-wide 
Framework have been developed to ensure any service redesign identified in 
the Transformation Programme Plan for inpatient and specialist services are 
managed, dependencies understood and risk assessed and mitigated system 
wide.   

3.16 Grampian MHLD provides inpatient and specialist services for other IJB areas 
which include inpatient beds for Orkney and Shetland and the Eden Unit for 
the North of Scotland.  Inpatient beds are also purchased for medium secure 
at Rohallian Perth and inpatient services for young people in Dudhope 
Dundee.  Regional and National dependencies and risks have been taken into 
account in the development of the Governance Framework and 
Transformation Programme Plan. 

Page 46



7

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
3.17 The Strategic Framework is being presented to Aberdeen City IJB on 24th of 

March, and Aberdeenshire IJB on 25th of March 2020, Moray IJB on 26th of 
March 2020 for consideration with a recommendation to approve.  

4. Implications for IJB 

4.1. Equalities 

4.1.1 The Strategic Framework has been through an Equality Human Right Impact 
Assessment (EHRIA) and submitted to committee services and 
recommendations have been taken into account in the final version of this 
document.  

4.1.2 Following the development of a Transformation Programme Plan (MHLD), 
further EHRIA assessments will be undertaken at a programme and project 
level to ensure the IJBs fully understand the impact of any recommended 
changes to service delivery.   

4.1.3 The strategic intent set out in the Grampian-wide Framework for MHLD could 
lead to the following positive impacts on those with protected characteristics: 

 Age - some services may be increased up to the age of 18 years for 
children and young people experiencing mental health problems / or both 
a learning disability and mental health problems (e.g. social work services 
in line with the national direction) 

 Disability – redesigned provision to improve the support and crisis 
support upstream in Tiers 1 and 2 (community services) and a redesign 
of Tier 4 (specialist and inpatient services) for people in Grampian for 
those living with a Mental Health Problems and a Learning Disability to 
improve outcomes  

 Gender reassignment – further development of the pathway to improve 
access to Gender Identity Services in Grampian 

 Marital Status – no direct impact 
 Pregnancy and Maternity – further development of the pathway to 

improve access to perinatal services in Grampian  
 Race, Religion or belief or Non-belief – no direct impact 
 Sex, and – no direct impact 
 Sexual Orientation – no direct impact 

4.2. Fairer Scotland Duty

4.2.1 Mental health and wellbeing affects all communities and people of all socio-
economic status.  However, there is a higher prevalence of mental ill health 

Page 47



8

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
and mental illness in communities where there is socio-economic 
disadvantage.  IJBs are committed through their Locality Plans to take 
account of socio-economic disadvantage in respective of the allocation of 
resources according to the needs of population.  The design and delivery of 
Grampian-wide inpatient and specialist MHLD Services will require a balance 
of a population approach, person centred care and securing best value with 
the available resource.  The design and delivery of Grampian-wide services 
will take account of the population needs across the three IJB areas.   

4.3. Financial 

4.3.1 The Net Budget for Grampian MHLD Services for 2020 to 2021 is £37M and 
NHSG Finance are forecasting a £1.8M overspend.  The Grampian MHLD 
Services are also planning to achieve a 2% efficiency (£750,000) so the 
expected budget to be transferred by NHSG to cover the projected spend is 
£38M (subject to inflation and earmarked funds adjustments). 

4.3.2 Given the financial pressures in the whole system there is an expectation 
that any service delegated is fully funded, so as not to place financial 
pressure on the IJBs or the other partners who may need to pick-up a share 
of any overspend.  

4.3.3 On 1st of April 2020, NHS Grampian plan to transfer the revenue budget to 
the Aberdeen City IJB and will ensure resource is available for the forecasted 
spend on Grampian-wide inpatient and specialist MHLD Services. There is 
currently a financial deficit within the inpatient and specialist MHLD services.  
NHS Grampian have agreed to underwrite any financial loss on inpatient and 
specialist MHLD Services for up to two financial years (from 1st of April 2020 
to 31st of March 2022).     

4.3.3 If a financial deficit remains at the end of this period, then after discussion 
and agreement with NHS Grampian, the three IJBs and the respective local 
authorities, an agreed budget will be proposed for approval by respective 
Boards.  

4.3.4 The delivery of the strategic intent set out in the report aims to ensure 
inpatient and specialist MHLD services are on a more sustainable footing for 
the future and delivered within the agreed budget to be set in consultation 
with the NHSG and 3 IJB.  

4.3.5 All redesign projects under the Transformation Programme Plan will go 
through robust and costed business case option appraisal and any funding 

Page 48



9

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
requirements will be submitted to the IJBs and NHSG for scrutiny and 
consideration for approval.    

4.4. Workforce

4.4.1 The delegated functions will not lead to changes in the Terms and Conditions 
of staff, who will remain employed by NHS Grampian, Aberdeen City Council, 
Aberdeenshire Council or Moray Council.  

4.4.2 Any changes arising from the Transformation Programme Plan will go through 
the workforce, Staffside and staff engagement processes set out by the 
respective employer organisations (NHSG, Aberdeen City Council, 
Aberdeenshire Council and Moray Council).  Staff will be engaged in the work 
streams arising from the Transformation Programme Plan and will receive 
regular briefings.  Staff engagement has been identified in the 
Communication and Stakeholder Engagement Plan and Risk Register.    

4.5. Legal

4.5.1 No direct legal implications have been identified.  

4.6. Other

4.6.1 None identified.  

5. Links to ACHSCP Strategic Plan 

5.1. Resilience - working with our partners to support people so that they can cope 
with, and where possible, overcome the health and wellbeing challenges they 
may face.  

5.2. Personalisation – ensuring that the right care is provided at the right place at 
the right time when people are in need. Ensuring that our systems are as 
simple and efficient as possible. 

6. Management of Risk 

Financial Risk 

6.1 The Grampian MHLD Services are also planning to achieve a 2% efficiency 
(£750,000). 

6.2 The Net Budget for Grampian MHLD Services for 2020 to 2021 is £37M and 
NHSG Finance are forecasting a £1.8M overspend.  The Grampian MHLD 

Page 49



10

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
Services are also planning to achieve a 2% efficiency (£750,000) so the 
expected budget to be transferred by NHSG to cover the projected spend is 
£38M (subject to inflation and earmarked funds adjustments).  NHS Grampian 
have agreed to underwrite any financial loss on inpatient and specialist MHLD 
Services for up to two financial years (from 1st of April 2020 to 31st of March 
2022).  

6.3 If a financial deficit remains at the end of this period, then after discussion and 
agreement with NHS Grampian, the three IJBs and the respective local 
authorities, an agreed budget will be proposed for approval by respective 
Boards.  

6.4 There are no direct financial risks arising from the approval of the Strategic 
Framework.  The Transformation Programme Plan will aim to ensure whole 
system collaboration to better balance a population approach, person centred 
care and secure best value with the available resource.  Any financial 
implications arising from the Transformation Programme will be fully appraised 
and considered for approval by the IJBs and NHSG.

Governance Risk 

6.5 There is a perceived risk that transition to delegated services could have an 
impact on the clinical and care governance of inpatient and specialist MHLD 
Services.  In order to provide assurance, the Transitions Steering Group 
(Grampian MHLD) has developed a Governance Framework to set out clinical, 
care and financial governance arrangements for delegated community 
services across Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs and delegated 
inpatient and specialist services hosted by Aberdeen City IJB on behalf of the 
Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs.    

Legal Risk 

6.6 No direct legal risks have been identified at this time.  Any major change to 
service delivery arising from the development of the Transformation 
Programme Plan will be managed in line with the guidance set out in the 
Scottish Health Councils Major Service Change process and timeline for public 
consultation.  

Page 50



11

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

7. Link to risks on strategic or operational risk register: 

1. There is a risk that there is insufficient capacity in the market (or 
appropriate infrastructure in-house) to fulfil the IJB’s duties as outlined in 
the integration scheme. This includes commissioned services and general 
medical services. 

High 

2. There is a risk of financial failure, that demand outstrips budget and IJB 
cannot deliver on priorities, statutory work, and projects an overspend. 

High 

3. There is a risk that the outcomes expected from hosted services are not 
delivered and that the IJB does not identify non-performance in through its 
systems. This risk relates to services that Aberdeen IJB hosts on behalf of 
Moray and Aberdeenshire, and those hosted by those IJBs and delivered 
on behalf of Aberdeen City.

High 

4. There is a risk that relationship arrangements between the IJB and its 
partner organisations (Aberdeen City Council & NHS Grampian) are not 
managed to maximise the full potentials of integrated & collaborative 
working. This risk covers the arrangements between partner organisations 
in areas such as governance; corporate service; and performance.

Low 

5. There is a risk that the IJB, and the services that it directs and has 
operational oversight of, fail to meet both performance 
standards/outcomes as set by regulatory bodies and those locally-
determined performance standards as set by the board itself. This may 
result in harm or risk of harm to people.

Medium 

6. There is a risk of reputational damage to the IJB and its partner 
organisations resulting from complexity of function, delegation and 
delivery of services across health and social care.

Medium 

7. Failure to deliver transformation at a pace or scale required by the 
demographic and financial pressures in the system. 

High 

The Transformation Board (Grampian MHLD) is developing a Strategic Risk 
Register for the Programme.  The Strategic Risks will be included in the Strategic 
Risk Register of the Aberdeen City IJB and the Operational Risks currently reported 
within the NHSG Risk Register will be incorporated into the Aberdeen City IJB 
Operational Risk Register.  The Strategic Risks and Operational Risk for Grampian 
MHLD will be escalated as appropriate within the procedures set out across the 
three IJBs and NHSG Board.  

7.1. How might the content of this report impact or mitigate these risks:

7.1.1 Risk 1 – the Transformation Programme Plan has identified key actions to (i) 
develop a Market Position Statement and (ii) a Commissioning Framework to 
ensure the Third Sector Interfaces across Grampian can support the market 
to develop the level of maturity required to support the delivery of Tier 1-4 
MHLD Services.  

Page 51



12

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

7.1.2 Risk 2 – the approval of the revised Scheme of Integration Report MHLD to 
be considered by the IJB, Council and NHS Grampian Boards with regard to 
financial arrangements aims to mitigate the financial risk of the gap between 
the budget and actual spend for inpatient and specialist MHLD Services. 

7.1.3 Risk 3 – the development of a Performance Dash Board for Grampian-wide 
MHLD Services will ensure implementation of the 30 National Quality 
Indicators and other nationally and locally directed Key Performance 
Indicators to ensure the effective monitoring and reporting of community, 
inpatient and specialist MHLD Services to the respective NHSG and IJB 
Boards.  

7.1.4 Risk 4 – the Sponsoring Group for all delegated hosted services is the North 
East System Wide Transformation Board to ensure cross system working 
across NHSG, IJBs and Council partners.  

7.1.5 Risk 5 – a Quality Assurance Framework to report on performance across the 
30 National Mental Health Indicator and additional Quality Assurance 
Measures for Learning Disability are being developed on an NHSG 
Performance Scorecard Dashboard by 1st of April 2020 and to the IJBs by 
June 2020.  Most areas are still unable to report on all indicators and are 
awaiting further national guidance on reporting methodology to embed these 
within operational systems.  

7.1.6 Risk 6 – the development of a robust Governance Framework for Grampian-
wide MHLD Services (community, inpatient and specialist) will ensure clarity 
of function, delegation and delivery of services across health and social care 
for delegated community and delegated inpatient and specialist services 
hosted by the Aberdeen City IJB.  

7.1.7 Risk 7 – in March 2020, a Whole System Leadership Development Session 
has been planned for the Transformation Board (Grampian MHLD) to ensure 
collective understanding and commitment to the change required (as 
articulated in the Executive Summary of the Framework).  In addition, 
Managing Successful Programme Methodology (MSP) is being followed so 
that roles, responsibilities and accountabilities are clearly defined for the 
Transformation Steering Group (Grampian MHLD), Transformation Board 
(Grampian MHLD) and associated Work Streams (programme and project 
level).  

Approvals 

Page 52



13

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

These will be added once your report 
has final approval for submission to 
committee. 

Sandra MacLeod 
(Chief Officer)

These will be added once your report 
has final approval for submission to 
committee.

Alex Stephen 
(Chief Finance Officer)

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



A Grampian-wide 
Strategic Framework 
For Future-Proof, Sustainable 
Mental Health and Learning 
Disability Services 

April 2020 - April 2025

Page 55



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   1

Contents

Page

Executive Summary

1.  Introduction 6

2.  How the Strategic Framework was Developed 10

3.  Priority Themes from the Strategic Review 12

4.  Vision and Guiding Principles 16

5.  Enabling Transformation 21

6.  Supporting Implementation 22

7.  The Journey Forward 23

Appendix 1 26

Appendix 2 28

Appendix 3 30

References 32

For more information contact: 

Kay Dunn, Lead Planning Manager (Grampian-wide Review MHLD) 

Tel: 01224 557840 

Email: kay.dunn1@nhs.net

This publication is also available in other formats and languages on request.  
Please call Equality and Diversity on 01224 551116 or 01224 552245 

or email grampian@nhs.net

Ask for publication CGD 190778

P
age 56



Executive Summary

This document provides the high-level principles and structure for the approach to Mental 
Health and Learning Disability (MHLD) provision across Grampian. It has been produced with 
multiple partners and sets the direction for how we will shift the balance of provision around the 
needs of people in a sustainable way. 

Our ambition and our challenge is to integrate services across partners based on the needs of 
our population rather than preserving institutional and professional boundaries. We need to 
be focused on a shared vision of collaborative leadership being developed through all frontline 
teams, internally and externally, to meet the population needs and shift demand for services 
from downstream to upstream.

We aim to ensure that we preserve the quality of our health and care services across the 
partners through more integration of these services, whilst at the same time, trying to place 
more emphasis on health improvement. Understanding that a deliberate shift in resource will 
potentially cause a deterioration in the current quality measures of the health and care system 
but holding the line and being clear on what outcomes we are trying to achieve.

Changing entire systems in the public sector is difficult; we need to continue to deliver services - 
they cannot be stopped, redesigned then started again. This will involve frontline teams working 
to overcome professional barriers so that they can coordinate care effectively, whereas in others 
it will require senior leaders to work together to remove organisational obstacles to deliver 
better value for the populations they serve. 

We have a desire and obligation to balance a focus on greater integration of services within 
health and social care partners with an equal and appropriate focus, as specialist as necessary as 
local as possible. 

Across Grampian, increasing numbers of people experience mental health problems or are living 
with a learning disability.  The current model of care is no longer fit for the future if we are to 
meet the increasing demand and more complex needs of a changing demographic. 

The ongoing challenge to recruit to clinical and nursing posts in mental health and learning 
disability services is also impacting on the sustainability of the current model of care. Our 
changing demographic will likely increase the number of people who will require support. It is 
agreed that the current way we deliver services is not sustainable to meet this increased need 
as the specialist workforce will not be available. We need to consider and design new ways of 
supporting people, considering new roles and how we work together to meet the challenges. 

A change is required to get better at supporting people with maintaining their own wellbeing, 
reducing the impact of mental health problems and providing timely and effective early 
intervention in the community.  

There will always be some people who need the safety and specialist support of a multi-
disciplinary team in a hospital setting, we understand that this requires specialist skills and 
knowledge to deliver this support.  Where people need support in a hospital setting they should 
have timely access to services as specialist as necessary. 

To realise Grampian’s mental health and learning disability priorities we need to work more 
effectively together as a whole system to deliver sustainable change and better the lives of 
people with mental health problems and learning disability.  

P
age 57



4   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

Partners will continue to take a population needs led approach to the delivery of services 
in communities and this framework will ensure a more coordinated multi-agency approach 
with more specialist services, including inpatient services that are provided for the Grampian 
population.  We will continue to work with our regional and national partners to develop the 
services we provide on behalf of the wider population.   

This framework reflects the building blocks of new ways of designing and coproducing support, 
it will require significant culture change, with brave, bold decisions to be made; a programme 
approach is required over a number of years to ensure sustainable and transformed delivery to 
shift the balance from hospital to community settings and provide timely and equitable access 
to mental health and learning disability services for the Grampian population.

Pam Dudek
Moray HSCP

Angie Wood 
Aberdeenshire HSCP

Sandra Macleod 
Aberdeen City HSCP

Alan Gray 
NHS Grampian

Working together 
across sectors and 
with communities 
to deliver the full 
spectrum of mental 
health and learning 
disability services 
for the people of 
Grampian.

•	 System-wide framework for organising and delivering services.
•	 As local as possible and as specialist as necessary.
•	 Pathways of care.
•	 Crisis services and 7 day support across all 4 tiers.
•	 Strategic commissioning of the whole pathway across sectors.
•	 Integrated workforce planning.
•	 System-wide collaboration.
•	 Working together to balance a population approach , person 

centred care and securing best value with the available 
resource.

The strategic framework provides high level 
direction and it is for the Health and Social 
Care Partnership (HSCPs) and inpatient 
and specialist Mental Health and Learning 
Disability Services (MHLD)  services individually 
and collectively to decide on the priorities 
according to local circumstances and need in 
relation to the following recommendations:   

1)	 A Transformation Board will be 
established with representation from 
each of the HSCPs, inpatient and 
specialist MHLD services to drive, 
support and oversee implementation 
of this plan.

2)	 There will be an agreed system-
wide framework for organising and 
delivering services based on the 4 Tier 
Model (described on page 18)  and 
Thrive Framework.

3)	 Each partnership will review the range 
of preventative and early intervention 
services available to the further 
develop tier 1 and 2 provision to ensure 
services are as local as possible and 
as specialist as necessary. Information 
about the availability of services in local 
communities will be readily available.

4)	 Pathways of care will be defined, 
agreed and clearly communicated 
to all who deliver, refer to and 
access services. The four Pillars of 
the Grampian Clinical Strategy will 
underpin this work and greater pan-
Grampian collaboration in the planning 
and delivery of services in tiers 3 and 4 
is required. 

5)	 We will redesign our crisis response 
services to ensure there is access 
further upstream in tiers 1 & 2 rather 
than only when someone is receiving 
specialist services. These services will 
be available 7 days per week.

6)	 To enable voluntary sector 
organisations to play to their strengths 
strategic commissioning arrangements 
will be reviewed to promote 
collaboration and coordination across 
the sectors. 

7)	 There will be an integrated workforce 
plan that creates opportunities for staff 
to learn together across partnership 
and sector boundaries in support of 
a more cohesive workforce. There will 
be a determined system-wide effort to 
improve retention.

8)	 A system-wide MHLD infrastructure 
will be established as guided by the 
Transformation Board to support 
collaboration, sharing of information, 
intelligence and learning.

9)	 A whole-system approach to leadership 
development and culture change will be 
employed to support implementation of 
this strategic framework.

10)	 A measurement framework will be 
developed by the Transformation Board 
to measure progress, it will reflect 
essential national policy directives and 
locally defined priorities.

The Journey Forward

Our Guiding PrinciplesOur Vision

P
age 58



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   76   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

There is recognition of the impact on staff health and wellbeing from pressures caused by 
recruitment and retention issues, especially in nursing and clinical roles.  These pressures 
are causing significant problems for the continuity of care. The ongoing challenges with the 
recruitment and retention of the workforce has led to significant concerns with regard to the 
future sustainability of services.  

Dedicated services for crisis and emergency intervention are lacking capacity and require to be 
more accessible. 

In parallel changes as a result of digital technology, an ageing demographic presenting with 
Long Term Conditions (LTC) and more complex needs are key drivers for the transformation of 
health and social care services. Future generations’ access to information and their expectations 
of health and care services will be significantly different from that of their predecessors. Against 
this backdrop and with more care being delivered as close to home as possible, there is a need 
to ensure MHLD Services across Grampian are fit for purpose and enabled to deliver high quality 
care in sustainable services. 

These ongoing challenges have led to a fragile and unsustainable service model which will 
require significant redesign and transformation to ensure a future proof and sustainable MHLD 
services moving forward.  

The delivery of the Strategic Framework will require a phased approach.  The ambitions for the 
future of MHLD must prioritise establishing resilience within the services from which to build 
a future proof and sustainable model of care.  The future transformation to a more community 
based model, ensuring timely access to specialist support for those who need it will require 
a system-wide leadership approach to maximise the available resources.  Those leading the 
delivery of MHLD services across Grampian can learn from the phased approach to integration 
and shifting the balance towards community based services achieved through the delivery of 
Integrated Children’s Services Plans (ICSPs) and Primary Care Improvement Plans (PCIPs).

National Drivers MHLD Services

This strategic framework for the future-proofing of services covers MHLD. Mental illness is one of 
the major public health challenges in Scotland with around one in three people estimated to be 
affected by mental ill health in any one year1. A ten year Mental Health Strategy for Scotland was 
published in March 2017 with 40 specific actions. Each action tackles a specific issue intended to 
make a positive and meaningful difference to people with mental health issues.

The Scottish Government’s Learning Disability Strategy ‘Keys to Life’, published in 20132 and 
refreshed in 20193, and the Coming Home Report 2018 recognises that people who have a 
learning disability have the same aspirations and expectations as everyone else and is guided 
by a vision shaped by the Scottish Government’s ambition for all citizens. There is a call to action 
for “a step change if we are to truly deliver fair opportunities for everyone in Scotland with a 
learning disability to live happy, healthy, fulfilling lives…”

1. Introduction

In January 2019, the three Integration Joint Boards (IJBs) and the System Leadership Team of 
NHS Grampian (NHSG) jointly made a commitment to carry out a strategic review to place the 
Grampian system-wide MHLD services on a more sustainable footing. The specific aims of the 
Grampian-wide review were to:

•	 Inform a programme for sustainable, future-proofed delivery of person-centred MHLD care, 
incorporating local and regional delivery requirements 

•	 Develop a robust co-produced integrated plan for the sustainable provision of MHLD services 
which optimises outcomes and meets population needs

•	 Establish the appropriate arrangements for the delegation of inpatient and specialist MHLD 
services which optimises outcomes and meets people’s needs

This strategic framework describes the review process and sets out guiding principles for 
supporting collaboration across the partnerships in the delivery of integrated, high quality and 
sustainable MHLD services for the people of Grampian and associated populations.

The strategic framework is a high level framework that sets out: 

•	 Our vision and guiding principles 

•	 Priority themes to be developed across community, inpatient and specialist MHLD services 

•	 A tiered pathway to inform the transformation and future delivery of MHLD services 

•	 Supports a whole system approach to implementation of the strategic framework

•	 Sets out the next steps in the journey forward to ensure future proof and sustainable MHLD 
services 

1.1  Scope 

The strategic framework aims to respond to all individuals, families and carers who require 
support from mental health and / or learning disability services whether their needs can be me 
at home, in their community or in an inpatient or specialist service setting. 

1.2  Context - The Case for Change

Current Challenges

The overall provision of MHLD services across Grampian and between sectors, agencies and 
departments requires a more cohesive approach. A single map or overview of available services 
and how they interconnect and function as a system would better enable professionals, 
service users and their families get to the right person, at the right place at the right time. Staff, 
including General Practitioners (GPs) need to be more knowledgeable about the different parts 
of the system, how they link up and how to guide people through services. 

P
age 59



8   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

How will the needs change in the future? 

By 2035 it is projected the 
population aged 65-85 will rise 
by 39% and those over 85  by 
123% (the % increase in over 
85s is projected to be more 

than almost anywhere else in 
Scotland) 

The number of people living 
in Grampian by 2035 could be 
672,000, 87,000 higher than it 

is today’ 

More people will be living 
alone – by 2035, 114,000 are 

expected to be living on their 
own which represents 37% of 

all households. 

Almost 50,000 people in 
Grampian live in remote and 

rural areas, with long distances 
to travel for healthcare and this 
number will grow considerably 

in the next 20 years.   

40 claimants per 100,000 of 
the population in Grampian 

have a mental health diagnosis, 
compared to 36/100,000 in 

Scotland.

The number of people with 
dementia is expected to 

increase considerably and 
many more people will 

experience multiple Long Term 
Conditions.   

What do we spend on MHLD services? 

The total (net) expenditure for 
general psychiatry services for 
2017/18 was £73.4m for NHS 

Grampian. This was equivalent 
to £125 per head of population 
which compared to £178 across 
Scotland and as much as £245 

in Greater Glasgow & Clyde.

In 2017/18 General psychiatry 
community expenditure per 
head of population 2017/18 
was £30.7m for NHSG, which 
was 42% of total expenditure 

for general psychiatric services, 
compared to 37% in Scotland. 

NHSG spend on General Psychiatry was 6.7% of the total NHSG expenditure compared to 8.4% in Scotland.  

The gross ingredient cost for 
medicines in Mental Health per 
head of population increased 

from £14.99 in 2016/17 to 
£19.48 in 2017/18. The latter 
compared to £19.66 across 

Scotland. 

How well are our services doing at supporting improved outcomes for people with MHLD? 

There was 1,297 total spells 
of In-patient Admissions for 
Mental Health Specialties in 

Grampian, significantly lower 
than 1,709 2013/14.  

 The rate of Compulsory 
Treatment Orders per 100,000 
population in Grampian was 

23.4%, lower than the Scotland 
rate of 28.2% 

81.3 % of voluntary In-patients 
(General Psychiatry) compared 

to 81.4% in Scotland.

13.4% of compulsory In-
patients (Old Age Psychiatry) 

compared to 19.6% in Scotland.

50.8% of young people 
commenced treatment by 

specialist Child & Adolescent 
Mental Health Services within 
18 weeks of referral, compared 
to 64.5% in Scotland [national 

standard of 90%]

The Grampian rate of 
Emergency Detention 

Certificates (EDCs) initiated per 
100,000 population was 19.7, 
significantly lower than the 

Scotland rate of 52.8

The average length of stay for 
mental health care in NHSG 
was 73.1 days with a median 
of 20 days. Across Scotland 
the average was higher, at 

83.3 days, but the median was 
lower, at 18 days.

86.6% of voluntary In-patients 
(Old Age Psychiatry) compared 

to 80.4% in Scotland.

95.1% of people commenced 
drug and alcohol treatment 

within the national standard of 
3 weeks, compared to 94.7% in 

Scotland.

The Grampian rate of Short 
Term Detention Certificates 

(STDC) per 100,000 was 68.1, 
significantly lower than the 

Scotland rate of 86.8

12.6% of patients discharged 
in Grampian were re-admitted 
within 28 days, compared to 
12.7% in Scotland. 27% were 
readmitted within 133 days, 

compared to 24.2% in Scotland.

18.7% of compulsory In-
patients (General Psychiatry) 

compared to 18.6% in Scotland.

75.2% of patients who 
commence psychological 
therapy based treatment 

within 18 weeks of referral, 
compared to 79.4% in Scotland 

[national standard of 90%]

NHS Grampian ‘Clinical Strategy’ 2016-2021, ISD Scotland ‘Adult Mental Health Benchmarking Toolkit 
(presents data up to 31st of March 2018), published March 2019. 

There is a growing recognition that alongside policies and structural changes, there is a need for 
an intentional focus on a more transformational approach to leadership. Achieving a common 
set of outcomes, as set out in the in the National Performance Framework (NPF)4, means that 
people across Scotland need to work together more effectively across communities, national 
and local government, in all the statutory bodies, across the voluntary sector and in businesses5.

1.3  Integration of Health and Social Care

The challenge for all public services is finding the right balance between delivering cross-sector 
integrated local services within communities whilst also collaborating between communities to 
ensure equity and efficiency as well as access to specialist provision when required. 

The Health and Social Care Partnerships (HSCPs) in Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray are 
all at different stages having recently approved their local Mental Health Strategic Frameworks 
and Action 15 Delivery Plans (the Scottish Governments commitment set out in the National 
Strategy for Mental Health 2017-2027 under Action 15: to increase the workforce to give access 
to dedicated mental health professionals to all A&Es, all GP practices, every police station 
custody suite, and to our prisons. Over the next five years increasing additional investment to 
£35 million for 800 additional mental health workers in those key settings) and the intention 
is not to duplicate or undermine these plans. Our intention is to build on the excellent work 
already taking place and to create a Grampian-wide infrastructure where the three partnerships 
can connect and address the challenges that no one partnership can solve in isolation.

The integration of health and social care clearly sits alongside the wider Community Planning 
Partnerships (CPPs) Local Outcome Improvement Plans (LOIPs) in Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire 
and Moray.

1.4  Consolidating the Delegation Arrangements

The community mental health, learning disability and substance misuse services are delegated 
to Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray IJBs and operationally managed by the 3 HSCPs. 

Under the auspices of this review the acute inpatient and specialist MHLD services, other 
specialist services and Child and Adult Mental Health Services (CAMHS) are to be delegated to 
the three IJBs through a partnership arrangement with Aberdeen City HSCP. Previously they had 
been delivered by NHSG under an interim arrangement, with the exception of Moray IJB who 
have delegated their two local inpatient services to the HSCP already.

With the delegation of services due to be complete in April 2020, the time is right to work 
together to transform services to better meet local needs within this changing context.

1.5  Policy Context

The national and local policy landscape which has guided the development of this strategic 
framework can be found in Appendix 1.

P
age 60



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   1110   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

2.  How The Strategic Framework Was Developed

2.1  Staff Engagement

This review has been a ‘front-runner’ project in road-testing a strategic framework process which 
has been developed by the Grampian Joint Chief Officer’s Group and NHSG System Leadership 
Team (SLT).

The agreed planning framework for this strategic review included a staff survey and three 
half-day staff engagement workshops to ensure input from a broad range of stakeholders. 
Workshops 1 and 2 took place on 15th March 2019 and 15th April 2019. Over 70 people 
attended each session. The first workshop considered the current challenges and opportunities 
for transforming services and the second workshop focused on what is needed to move from 
‘business as usual’ to the envisioned future state. 

The third workshop, which took place on 17th May 2019 was attended by 60 people. Attendees 
heard preliminary feedback from a consultation with people with lived experience of services, 
conducted by the Health and Social Care Alliance (see below), and considered the emerging 
shape of services from the previous conversations. 

2.2  The Voice of People with Lived Experience of Services 

The Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland (the ALLIANCE) undertook a Grampian wide 
consultation process to engage local people, communities and Third (voluntary) Sector 
organisations in informing the Grampian strategic review of Mental Health and Learning 
Disability services9. The ALLIANCE held six afternoon and evening engagement events in five 
geographical areas across Grampian over three days from 29th April 2019 to 1st May 2019.

These sessions were promoted and supported by the Third Sector Interfaces (TSIs) in each of the 
three IJB areas in Grampian i.e. Aberdeen Council of Voluntary Organisations, (Aberdeen City), 
Aberdeenshire Voluntary Action, (Aberdeenshire) and TSIMoray (Moray) and by NHS Grampian 
through its networks and GP practices.

Over 500 voluntary and community groups were contacted by the TSIs through their networks. 
In addition, the ALLIANCE promoted the events through its membership list (2700), Self-
Management Network, and ALISS (A Local Information System for Scotland). 

In total 124 people participated in the six events over the three-day period. In excess of 650 
responses, comments and statements were recorded over this time.

The aim of the events was to offer an opportunity for those with current and previous 
experience of mental health & learning disabilities services in Grampian to share and discuss this 
so as to include the perceptions of users, carers, families and support providers in the strategic 
review process. 

In addition to the face to face sessions, an online survey and accessible information pack were 
used (the latter to facilitate engagement with Learning Disability lived experience). These returns 
have been added to the overall feedback provided by the ALLIANCE.

The events took the form of facilitated discussions based around four core questions:

•	 What are the challenges facing someone accessing mental health and learning disability 
support and what needs to change?

•	 What works well and which services are valued?

•	 What kind of support is missing?

•	 Is there anything else you would like to tell us?

The key messages from the ALLIANCE conversations with people with lived experience of 
services can be found in Appendix 2. 

P
age 61



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   1312   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

3.  Priority Themes From The Strategic Review

The consolidated themes from the three workshops along with the engagement sessions with 
people with lived experience provide the direction of travel for this strategic framework. 

3.1  Building on Strong Foundations

Considerable progress has already been made by each of the HSCPs in redesigning services 
to meet the challenges brought about by changing trends and policy imperatives. HSCPs 
have progressed the investment in self-management and early intervention and support in 
communities through the Transformation Fund and delivery of PCIPs (e.g. Link Workers and 
Community Psychologists).  Grampian now has a low bed base compared to most other health 
boards and it has the second lowest emergency detention rates in Scotland. There has been 
progress in transforming CAMHS and in providing intense support at home to prevent admission 
to hospital. 

Service redesign has seen expanded roles in nursing and occupational therapy and voluntary 
sector partners have been playing an increasing role in mainstream services such as in providing 
Distress Brief Interventions (Penumbra) and in-reach to patients whilst in hospital (SAMH). 

However, recruitment problems leading to concerns about safe staffing levels have called into 
question the future viability of the current pattern of services in meeting current and future 
need. This has brought into sharp focus the urgent need for a major transformation programme. 

The main challenges highlighted in the engagement sessions related to fragmented services; 
long waiting times for some services; lack of access to crisis support and out-of-hours provision 
across all 4 tiers of service delivery; availability of transport for service users; finance and budget 
silos (where funds or assets are kept separate from other funds or assets of a similar type in 
other services and organisations and this gets in the way of ensuring best value); risk aversion 
compounded by the perceived pressures and direction of scrutiny and assurance and the lack of 
joined up IT systems. 

In addition there was seen to be a need for a more cohesive approach to supporting people in 
the community with a map of available services. It was also thought that current commissioning 
arrangements were preventing voluntary sector organisations from fully playing their part in 
service delivery.

Day services and respite facilities for people with Learning Disability were deemed positive 
and could be further improved by ensuring more user involvement in service planning and 
development. 

Considerable progress has already 
been made by each of the HSCPs 
in redesigning services to meet the 
challenges brought about by changing 
trends and policy imperatives.

3.2  A Tiered, Pathway Approach
A tiered whole system pathway approach was given prominence in the workshop conversations. 
It was seen as a useful way of organising and delivering a comprehensive suite of services across 
the spectrum from prevention, early intervention and timely access to specialist services as 
needed.

 

	 “Makes sense at a high level”

	 “Tiered model should allow us to focus on our areas of interest and expertise…”

However, there were some notes of caution. These related to concerns about the model being 
potentially inflexible and It is therefore important that a tiered model is flexible and enables 
people to access support across tiers in order to meet their needs. There should be a ‘no wrong 
door’ approach when people are seeking support from services. 

For a tiered approach to be workable there is a need for clarity around thresholds and evidence-
based pathways to ensure a seamless flow through the system. In-reach/intensive outreach 
arrangements are seen to be important and examples from Newcastle, Utrecht, Dumfries and 
Galloway were cited. 

There is believed to be an absence of infrastructure for delivering services at levels of 1 and 
2 of the tiered model and investment (or resource transfer) would be needed to support 
development. Initiatives could be introduced to support GP managed mental health and 
wellbeing support in primary care settings and more community based support for people 
leaving hospital to ensure they receive the right level of support and are not at risk of being 
readmitted due to lack of community resources and support.

There is seen to be a better way to manage crisis-related hospital admissions and a proposal was 
put forward for the redesign of crisis services i.e.

	 “…bring these downstream because crisis doesn’t always mean high tariff complexity 
that requires medicalised interventions – bring to appropriate level to avoid longer term 
blockages in specialist services (these should be for the few not the many, but the skills 
and expertise of staff cascaded down the tiers to support the many)”.

A 7-day service was mooted but there was some caution expressed about financial resources 
and workforce availability. However, there was also thought to be a role here for voluntary sector 
organisations e.g. 

“Greater collaboration could make this work. Some third sector staff are available at the 
weekends which might better manage risk”.

The need to ensure a continued focus on dementia as a national priority was highlighted during 
the consultation.

Questions remain about how the tiered model would operate across Grampian. For example, will 
there be commonality of approach or will it be for each partnership to decide on the shape and 
delivery of services? And if this is the case how will the more specialist end of services at tiers 3 
and 4 be shaped and delivered? Stakeholders felt on balance that a set of principles rather than 
definitive actions might create the best conditions for forward movement in this respect. 

P
age 62



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   1514   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

3.3  Equal Partnerships
A greater reliance on voluntary sector provision is seen as fundamental to the future 
sustainability of services particularly at levels 1 and 2 but there were also examples of initiatives 
where voluntary sector organisations were active in the more specialist end of services. There 
was also a recognition of the vital role played by un-paid carers and how we support them to 
continue in their role.

There was a view, however, that the system does not always make it easy for voluntary sector 
organisations to fully play their part and that work is needed on the commissioning process to 
support collaboration and minimise competition. There was also seen to be a need to address 
negative attitudes towards voluntary sector provision e.g. 

“There’s a perception that 3rd sector organisations are second class services”.

3.4  Workforce and Cross-Boundary Working

Workforce availability was highlighted as a major concern in all three workshops. The need for 
creative recruitment approaches and a determined emphasis on improving retention was given 
prominence. However, there were also calls for further work to improve how the different sectors 
work together. 

“How do multi-professionals link to the third sector? There’s a lot of skills and knowledge 
out there. They are vital…”        “(It’s) all about relationships/trust…”                 

Stakeholders recognised the natural tension between the need to deliver services within local 
communities whilst also having whole system specialist services for the people of Grampian. 
How people work together will be crucial to success in navigating this complexity and a number 
of suggestions were put forward e.g. 

“(Need) true co-production of services so implication of changes on other areas can be 
understood and planned well and implications on service users made fully explicit”

“Build on existing pan-Grampian and MH&LD strategy groups to build networks as lots of 
information out there to share and learn from”.

A specific issue was identified in relation to the Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Bill.  The 
Bill for this Act of the Scottish Parliament was passed by the Parliament on 2nd May 2019 and 
received Royal Assent on 6th June 2019.  The Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019 
places a statutory duty on geographical health boards and associated agencies to ensure 
providers in health and care sectors have the appropriate workforce in place to deliver safe and 
high quality care.  Health boards and IJBs are working to fully understand the implications which 
are likely to have a bearing on the future delivery of MHLD Services across Grampian. 

3.5  Supporting Transformation

Stakeholders accepted the case for change. They acknowledged that the level of change needed 
in some instances is profound and that this would be unsettling for staff, service users and the 
possibly the public. 

“Needs a dynamic shift and an acceptance of what MUST change”.

A number of suggestions were put forward to support the change process. These include 
“describing what is going to look different” with a “timeline and clear objectives for the changes” 
and to “translate these into concrete steps”. The approach should also include:

“a process for monitoring progress, feedback mechanisms to stop things go off track, 
capturing unintended consequences and flagging up where things didn’t work”. 

In terms of the change management process there was seen to be a need for “a coordinated 
engagement approach about what is happening”. Effective leadership is needed. Leaders at all 
levels who are “invested in the change and who can describe the benefit to the organisation and 
who, in turn, can support staff to commit”. Importantly, leaders who are “listening and able to 
really answer questions.”

“Service redesign needs to be driven by necessity and get people onside with effective 
leadership”.

3.6  The Communication Needs of Our Local Ethnic and Disability 
Communities

To assist staff to communicate with non-English speaking patients and their families and carers, 
the “Language Line” telephone interpretation service is available. By prior arrangement, “face to 
face” interpreters are also available. If the patient and their family members and carers have a 
communication disability, appropriate communication support such as British Sign Language 
(BSL) interpretation can be provided. Information in other formats can also be made available

P
age 63



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   1716   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

Working together across sectors 
and with communities to deliver the 
full spectrum of mental health and 
learning disability services for the 
people of Grampian.

4  Vision And Guiding Principles 

There is general support for the vision and guiding principles set out to ensure future proof, 
sustainable delivery of MHLD services.  It is important to acknowledge that service improvement 
must be delivered within the available resources to ensure effective and efficient delivery of 
service.  

Vision 

We are grateful for the time and commitment staff and people with lived experience of services 
gave in contributing to this review. The solutions have emerged from these conversations. These 
are offered in the form of a series of principles to guide local and system-wide action. 

Our Guiding Principles

•	 System-wide framework for organising and delivering services

•	 As local as possible and as specialist as necessary

•	 Pathways of care

•	 Crisis services and 7 day support across all 4 tiers

•	 Strategic commissioning of the whole pathway across sectors

•	 Integrated workforce planning

•	 System-wide collaboration

•	 Working together in order to balance a population approach, person 
centred care and securing best value with the available resource

Im
pr

ov
ed

 p
at

ie
nt

 o
ut

co
m

es

Ac
hi

ev
ed

 N
at

io
na

l p
ol

ic
y 

ac
tio

ns
 

an
d 

ou
tc

om
es

M
or

e 
pr

ev
en

ta
tiv

e 
su

pp
or

t

Cl
ea

r c
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

ch
an

ne
ls

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

on
 a

 P
ag

e!

G
ui

di
ng

 P
ri

nc
ip

le
s

Su
cc

es
s 

In
di

ca
to

rs
En

ab
le

rs

Im
pr

ov
ed

 s
ta

ff 
he

al
th

 a
nd

 w
el

lb
ei

ng

Im
pr

ov
ed

 re
te

nt
io

n 
&

 ro
le

 u
til

is
at

io
n

Re
du

ce
d 

w
ai

ts

D
el

iv
er

ed
 w

ith
in

 b
ud

ge
t

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
Tr

an
sf

or
m

at
io

n

Pr
io

ri
tie

s

A
 re

vi
ew

 o
f g

ov
er

na
nc

e 
an

d 
ris

k 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 to

 
su

pp
or

t i
nn

ov
at

io
n 

an
d 

te
st

in
g 

ne
w

 w
ay

s 
of

 w
or

ki
ng

 

Vi
si

on
 

W
or

ki
ng

 to
ge

th
er

 a
cr

os
s 

se
ct

or
s 

an
d 

w
ith

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 to
 d

el
iv

er
 th

e 
fu

ll 
sp

ec
tr

um
 o

f m
en

ta
l 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 le

ar
ni

ng
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r t
he

 p
eo

pl
e 

of
 G

ra
m

pi
an

Fu
rt

he
r i

nv
es

tm
en

t i
n 

sh
ar

ed
 IT

 
sy

st
em

s 
an

d 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 E
na

bl
ed

 
Ca

re Pa
n-

G
ra

m
pi

an
 p

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

co
lla

bo
ra

tio
n

In
te

gr
at

ed
 w

ho
le

-s
ys

te
m

 
w

or
kf

or
ce

 p
la

nn
in

g

Ad
dr

es
si

ng
 b

ud
ge

ta
ry

 s
ilo

s 
an

d 
ov

er
ly

-b
ur

ea
uc

ra
tic

 c
on

st
ra

in
ts

Be
tt

er
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 d
at

a 
to

 in
fo

rm
 

se
rv

ic
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

, d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
an

d 
re

de
si

gn

Bu
ild

in
g 

on
 S

tr
on

g 
Fo

un
da

tio
ns

Pa
th

w
ay

s 
an

d 
re

vi
si

ng
 o

ur
 a

pp
ro

ac
h 

to
 ti

er
ed

 s
er

vi
ce

s
Eq

ua
l P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s

W
or

kf
or

ce
 a

nd
 C

ro
ss

-B
ou

nd
ar

y 
W

or
ki

ng

Se
e 

A
pp

en
di

x 
3 

fo
r K

ey
 Q

ua
lit

y 
In

di
ca

to
rs

Ba
la

nc
e 

po
pu

la
tio

n,
 

pe
rs

on
 c

en
tr

ed
 

ca
re

 a
nd

 b
es

t 
va

lu
e

Lo
ca

l M
H

LD
 

st
ra

te
gi

es
 a

nd
  

de
liv

er
y 

pl
an

s

Sy
st

em
-w

id
e 

fr
am

ew
or

k 
fo

r o
rg

an
is

in
g 

an
d 

de
liv

er
in

g 
se

rv
ic

es

A
s 

lo
ca

l a
s 

po
ss

ib
le

 a
nd

 
as

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t a

s 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y

Pa
th

w
ay

s 
of

 
ca

re

Cr
is

is
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

7 
da

y 
su

pp
or

t 
ac

ro
ss

 a
ll 

4 
tie

rs

Sy
st

em
-w

id
e 

co
lla

bo
ra

tio
n

St
ra

te
gi

c 
co

m
m

is
si

on
in

g 
of

 th
e 

w
ho

le
 

pa
th

w
ay

 a
cr

os
s 

se
ct

or
s

In
te

gr
at

ed
 

w
or

kf
or

ce
 

pl
an

ni
ng

P
age 64



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   1918   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

Guiding Principles

4.1  System-wide Framework for Organising and Delivering Services

To ensure people who need support, care and treatment are seen by the right people, in the 
right place, at the right time there is a need for a systematic way of organising and delivering 
services. 

The 4 Tier Model is already familiar to many staff and appears to be a logical way of 
differentiating levels of need. Moreover, it provides a common language about services and a 
logical way of allocating resource. Partnerships are urged to agree a common approach based on 
the tiered approach with clear thresholds, flow and mutual support across tiers. 

Shifting the balance of care from hospital to community requires capacity building within 
communities. Ideally a co-produced approach which enables professionals and citizens to make 
better use of each other’s assets, resources and contributions to achieve better outcomes or 
improved efficiency10. 

Thrive is a needs-led framework11 which provides a set of principles for creating coherent and 
resource-efficient communities of mental health and wellbeing support. It conceptualises need 
in five categories; Thriving, Getting Advice and Signposting, Getting Help, Getting More Help 
Getting Risk Support. 

The framework is currently used within CAMHS and will be adopted for more general use across 
MHLD services.   

A visual representation of the 4 Tier Model overlain with the Thrive Framework is presented in 
Fig.1 below. Taking cognisance of the concerns expressed during the staff engagement sessions 
about the tiered model being seen as hierarchical and potentially inflexible the tiers are flattened 
to represent a greater ease of movement and flow within and between the tiers.

Fig. 1 Framework for Organising and Delivering MHLD Services 

 Sign 
posting, self 

management 
and one off 

contacts 

Goals 
focused 

evidence 
informed

outcome 
focused 

interventions

Risk 
management 

Crisis response 

Extensive 
treatment 

Tier 1 

Universal services 
including primary 

care and third 
sector provision

Tier 2 

Joint delivery 
of universal 

and  specialist 
services 

Tier 3

Specialist 
multidisciplinary 

outpatient 
services 

Tier 4

Specialist 
multidisciplinary 
outpatient and 

inpatient services 

Adapted from the 4 Tier Model and Thrive Framework

4.2  As Local as Possible as Specialist as Necessary

Stakeholder feedback suggests that preventative and early intervention services are patchy. As 
such each partnership should review the range of provision in levels 1 and 2 of the tiered model. 
This should focus on needs and gap analysis, and is likely to require a strategic commissioning 
approach to addressing these.

We heard from people with lived experience of services that better sign-posting of what is 
available within local communities is needed and ALISS (A Local Information System for Scotland) 
was commended in this respect. Improving the knowledge of mental health in the general 
population to promote self-management and self-directed support is also seen to be a priority.

4.3  Pathways of Care

Staff and people with lived experience told us that services at tiers 3 and 4 (MHLD community 
teams, inpatient services and other specialist services, many of which are provided on a 
Grampian-wide basis) are under intense pressure. With three partnerships accessing certain 
Grampian wide inpatient and specialist MHLD services there is a need to ensure that pathways of 
care are defined, agreed and clearly communicated to all who deliver, refer to and use services. 
The four Pillars of the Grampian Clinical Strategy should underpin this work i.e. prevention; 
self-management; planned care and unscheduled care. Greater pan-Grampian collaboration 
in the planning and delivery of services in tiers 3 and 4 is strongly recommended, and there is 
considerable scope for a shared approach to understanding the needs at tiers 1 and 2 in order 
that support be provided for people in distress but for whom referral to specialist services may 
not be appropriate.

4.4  Crisis Services and 7 Day Support Across All Tiers

Consideration should be given to a redesign of crisis response services to ensure there is access 
further upstream i.e. tiers 1 & 2 rather than only when someone is receiving specialist services. 
Ideally, there should be access 7 days per week and delivered through multi-sector collaboration 
with the ability to refer to specialist advice as required. The redesign must also address the 
current workforce and financial pressures in the system and explore the mix of clinical and 
professional roles and include consideration of the part the Third Sector can play in any new 
model moving forward.   

4.5  Strategic Commissioning of the Voluntary Sector

To enable voluntary sector organisations to play to their strengths, commissioning arrangements 
should be reviewed to promote collaboration and coordination within the sector. The aim is to 
assist voluntary sector partners to work with each other as well as in partnership with statutory 
services to meet identified needs and desirable outcomes within communities, promoting the 
chances of successful recruitment, retention and delivery of desired outcomes.

P
age 65



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   2120   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

4.6  Integrated Workforce Planning 

There should be an integrated workforce plan that creates opportunities for staff to learn 
together across partnership and sector boundaries. Efforts to recruit to hard-to-fill posts should 
continue but with a focused emphasis on improving retention and continued engagement with 
staff partnership. 

 

4.7  System-wide Collaboration 

HSCPs have a duty to collaborate and this should involve clear and active participation in 
appropriate pan-Grampian structures designed to ensure consistency, governance, effective 
communication, shared intelligence and learning in relation to MHLD. These arrangements 
should be articulated and engaged with by staff positioned to speak on behalf of their whole 
HSCP.

5  Enabling Transformation

The guiding principles are ambitious in their reach and will require a whole-system response. A 
number of actions were identified by staff that would act as enablers in a transformation process. 
These are:

•	 A review of governance and risk management arrangements to support innovation and 
testing new ways of working.

•	 Further investment in shared IT systems and Technology Enabled Care.

•	 Pan-Grampian planning and collaboration. 

•	 Integrated whole-system workforce planning. 

•	 Addressing budgetary silos and overly-bureaucratic constraints.

•	 Better access to data to inform service planning, development and redesign. 

We believe that making progress in respect of these enabling factors would positively impact on 
the future development of services and new approaches across pathways of care, as envisaged 
in the Grampian Clinical Strategy. Figure 2 below shows the 4 pillars of the clinical strategy 
overlain with these enablers.

Fig. 2:

Prevention Self Management Unscheduled Care Planned Care

Further investment in shared IT systems and Technology Enabled Care

Pan-Grampian planning and collaboration 

Integrated whole-system workforce planning 

A review of governance and risk management arrangements to support 
innovation and testing new ways of working

Addressing budgetary silos and overly-bureaucratic constraints

Better access to data to inform service planning, development and redesign

P
age 66



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services   2322   Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

6  Supporting Implementation

To drive and oversee the delivery of this strategic framework it is recommended that a 
Transformation Board be established with representation from each of the HSCPs, inpatient and 
specialist services. Consideration should also be given as to the perspective of lived experience 
and multi-sector input in this regard.

6.1  Leadership Development and Culture Change 

Progress has been made in redesigning MHLD services in the face of intense pressure and 
recruitment problems but further transformation is needed to ensure services are fit for purpose, 
future proofed and digital solutions are put in place to support new ways of working in the 
future model of care.

Systemic approaches enable people to see beyond issues at an individual or team level to reveal 
wider system or cultural dynamics that might be getting in the way. As such a whole-system 
approach to culture change is needed where staff at all levels of the organisation are supported 
to implement changes. This is about leadership, relationships and trust. 

6.2  Measuring Success

Success will be measured by the extent to which there are sustainable services in place 
implementing the outcomes set out in the national mental health and learning disability 
strategies. A measurement framework will be developed by the Transformation Board and 
each partnership will ensure their strategy and delivery plan guides local action in this respect. 
Those with lived experience will be key partners in helping us evaluate the impact of the 
transformation on improving the outcomes of people who use MHLD services in Grampian. The 
Transformation Board (Grampian MHLD) will ensure we engage with people through our existing 
lived experienced networks across the 3 HSCPs throughout the lifetime of the Grampian-wide 
Strategic Framework for MHLD. See Fig. 3 below.

Aberdeenshire 

strategies and 

Delivery Plans 
Moray str

ategies 

and Delivery 

Plans

Inpatie
nt a

nd 

sp
ecialist

 M
HLD 

services s
tra

tegies 

and Deliv
ery Plans 

Aberdeen City 

strategies and 

Delivery Plans 

Grampian 
MHLD strategic 

framework 

7  The Journey Forward

Progress has been made in redesigning Grampian MHLD services in the face of intense pressures 
and recruitment problems but further transformation is needed to ensure services are fit for 
purpose and future-proofed. This requires a whole-system effort as the sustainability issues 
cannot be addressed by any one partnership or sector alone. 

The strategic framework provides high level direction and it is for the HSCPs and inpatient and 
specialist MHLD services individual and collectively to decide on the priorities according to local 
circumstances and need in relation to the following recommendations:   

1)	 A Transformation Board will be established with representation from HSCPs, inpatient and 
specialist MHLD services, Police and Third Sector to drive, support and oversee implementation 
of this framework. How best to ensure representation from service users and carers should be 
explored.  The terms of reference, membership and governance arrangements will be publically 
available.

2)	 There will be an agreed system-wide framework for organising and delivering services based 
on the 4 Tier Model and Thrive Framework.

3)	 Each partnership will review the range of preventative and early intervention services 
available using the system-wide framework to the further develop levels 1 and 2 provision to 
ensure services are as local as possible and as specialist as necessary. Information about the 
availability of services in local communities will be readily available.

4)	 Pathways of care will be defined, agreed and clearly communicated to all who deliver, refer to 
and access services. The four Pillars of the Grampian Clinical Strategy will underpin this work 
and greater pan-Grampian collaboration in the planning and delivery of services in tiers 3 and 
4 is required. 

5)	 We will redesign our crisis response services to ensure there is access further upstream in tiers 
1 & 2 rather than only when someone is receiving specialist services. These services will be 
available 7 days per week.

6)	 To enable voluntary sector organisations to play to their strengths strategic commissioning 
arrangements will be reviewed to promote collaboration and coordination across the sectors. 

7)	 There will be an integrated workforce plan that creates opportunities for staff to learn together 
across partnership and sector boundaries in support of a more cohesive workforce. There will 
be a determined system-wide effort to improve retention. Carers will be planned for as part of 
the workforce. 

8)	 A system-wide mental health and learning disability infrastructure will be established 
as guided by the Transformation Board to support collaboration, sharing of information, 
intelligence and learning.

9)	 A whole-system approach to leadership development and culture change will be employed 
to support implementation of this strategic framework.

	 A measurement framework will be developed by the Transformation Board to measure 
progress, it will reflect essential national policy directives and locally defined priorities. This 
will incorporate the 30 Quality Indicators (QI) for Mental Health and further develop QIs for 
Learning Disability Services.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Fig.3  Framework for 
Delivering the Strategic 
Framework

P
age 67



Appendices

P
age 68



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services     APPENDICES  2726  APPENDICES    Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

Appendix 1

National And Local Policy Landscape

Reform of Public Services

The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 was granted royal assent on April 1, 
201412. The 2020 vision for Health and Social Care and its ‘Route Map’ sets out 12 priorities for 
action under three domains - Quality of Care, Health of the Population, and Value and Financial 
Sustainability13. 

Integration of health and social care is one of Scotland’s major programmes of reform. Central to 
integration is ensuring that those who use services get the right care and support whatever their 
needs, at any point in their care journey. The Act aims to transform the way health and social care 
services are provided in Scotland and drive real change that improves people’s lives.

10 Year Vision for Mental Health

Scottish Government set out its ambition for mental health in its 10 Year Strategy 2017-27 with 
a call to action to ensure that we “prevent and treat mental health problems with the same 
commitment, passion and drive as we do with physical health problems” 14. They identify four 
areas for improvement:

•	 Prevention and early intervention.

•	 Access to treatment, and joined up accessible services.

•	 The physical wellbeing of people with mental health problems.

•	 Rights, information use, and planning.

There is a particular emphasis on increasing the mental health workforce; improving support 
for preventative and less intensive services including in Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
(CAMH), reviewing the provision of counselling services in schools and on testing and evaluating 
the most effective and sustainable models of supporting mental health in primary care.

Scotland’s Learning Disability Strategy 

‘Keys to Life’, Scotland’s Learning Disability Strategy, launched in 2013 recognises that people 
who have a learning disability have the same aspirations and expectations as everyone else and 
is guided by Scottish Government’s ambition for all citizens15. 

March 2019 saw the launch of a new 3 year Implementation Framework16  for the strategy which 
adopts a ‘whole system, whole population and whole person’ approach to improving the lives of 
people with learning disabilities in Scotland. The strategy centres around four key outcomes – A 
Healthy Life; Choice and Control; Independence and Active Citizenship.

National Dementia Strategy 

Improving care and support for people with dementia and those who care for them has been 
major ambition of Scottish government since 200717. The third National Dementia Strategy 
(2017-20) was published in June 2017. 

The third strategy builds on the progress and maintains a focus on improving the quality of 
care for people living with dementia and their families through work on diagnosis, including 
post-diagnostic support; care co-ordination during the middle stage of dementia; end of life 
and palliative care; workforce development and capability; data and information; and research. 
Crucially, there is a recognition of the importance of taking a person-centred and flexible 
approach to providing support at all stages of the care journey. 

NHS Grampian Clinical Strategy

The NHS Grampian Clinical Strategy (2016-21) highlights the importance of strategic and 
systematic change to address the changing healthcare needs over the next 20 years18. It 
recognises the changing role of NHS Grampian and the importance of working collaboratively 
with the 3 Integration Joint Boards, their HSCPs and with the voluntary sector. The strategy 
focuses attention on four key areas and calls for action in prevention; self-management; planned 
care and unscheduled care. 

P
age 69



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services     APPENDICES  2928  APPENDICES    Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

Appendix 2

Listening To The Contributions Of People And 
Communities

Summary of Key Messages from the ALLIANCE Engagement Sessions with People with Lived 
Experience of Services

1.  Challenges

•	 The overall provision of Mental Health services across the region and between sectors, 
agencies and departments lacks cohesion. There appears to be no single map or overview of 
available services and how they interconnect and function as a system. Staff, including GPs, 
lack knowledge about the different parts of the system, how they link up and how to guide 
people through services.

•	 There is recognition of the impact on staff health and wellbeing from pressures caused by 
recruitment and retention issues. These pressures are causing significant problems for the 
continuity of care, and the use of locum staff to cover permanent posts is impacting adversely 
on people with enduring support needs where a long-term relationship with professionals is 
important.

•	 Long waiting times remain a major issue across all services, many of which are perceived as 
accessible only when people have reached crisis point.

•	 Whilst many services were deemed to be operating at crisis point, dedicated services for crisis 
and emergency intervention were specifically mentioned as lacking capacity and require to 
be more accessible.

•	 More support and training are needed to address mental health issues in schools, including 
autism. 

•	 There is a lack of awareness and understanding of the needs and challenges facing people 
with learning disabilities, not only in daily life but in dealing with professional health and 
social service staff. Improved training is needed for a range of professionals as well others in 
the community who engaged with people with learning disabilities.

•	 People with Learning Disabilities should have a greater role in co-producing the services 
which are designed to support their needs. This should include a leadership role in service 
delivery.

•	 There should be better integration in the planning and provision of Voluntary and statutory 
sector services.

•	 The provision of public transport was a significant issue impacting negatively on people’s 
experience in accessing services.

2.  What works well? 

•	 The role of Community Links Workers (CLW) was cited as invaluable in supporting people 
through the system. CLWs are normally situated in GP practices and work with individuals 
from the practice list populations on a one-to-one basis to help identify and address issues 
that negatively impact on their health. Central to the approach is identifying and supporting 
individuals to access suitable resources within the community that can benefit their health 
and increase health competence.

•	 Allied to this was the availability of information on supported self-management and local 
services, specifically mentioned was the ‘ALISS’ system (A Local Information System for 
Scotland) funded by Scottish Government and hosted by the ALLIANCE. (ALISS is a national 
directory of health and wellbeing information that supports signposting)

•	 Ongoing support from numerous Voluntary Sector and community organisations was 
mentioned as enabling people to function well in their communities and stay out of hospital.

•	 Peer learning in schools such as that promoted by the Mental Health Foundation ‘Make it 
Count’ programme, had helped to raise awareness

•	 Day services and respite facilities for Learning Disabilities, where available, were deemed 
positive but often considered too regimented and need to be user led.

•	 Adult Learning Disability services in each of the three IJBs are fully integrated, with health and 
social care staff working together to provide joined up services; this is not however the case 
with children’s learning disability services. 

3.  What can be improved?

•	 A joined-up approach to strategic service planning across the region and between provider 
agencies and inpatient and specialist MHLD services and community sectors is required.

•	 A better understanding of the issues affecting people with poor mental health and learning 
disabilities is required by all working in health and social care including GP practice staff, in 
order to support and guide people who need help accessing services.

•	 There were calls for Community Links Workers to be employed in all Grampian GP practices.

•	 Provision of an accessible 24/7 crisis service, such as that provided in Edinburgh, is required to 
support those with immediate and urgent needs. 

•	 There is an urgent need to address continuity of care caused by recruitment and retention 
issues, including cover for staff sickness and annual leave.

•	 Inadequacies in the provision of local transport need to be addressed.

•	 Increased support for schools to improve understanding of mental health and to respond 
to challenges facing children is needed. This includes provision of counselling services, 
psychological therapies and support for prevention.

•	 There is a need to bring children’s Learning Disability services into line with those for adults by 
introducing integrated teams.

•	 Voluntary and statutory sector services need to be planned and resourced in a holistic and 
integrated way in order to optimise resources.

P
age 70



Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services     APPENDICES  3130  APPENDICES    Grampian-wide Strategic Framework  For Future-Proof, Sustainable Mental Health and Learning Disability Services

Appendix 3

How will we know if we have been successful ?

Timely
access to mental health 

services

18 weeks for 
Psychological Therapies

18 weeks for CAMHS 

3 weeks for drug and 
alcohol treatment

% unscheduled 
presentations to MH 

services assess within
4 hours

Safe
provision of mental 

health services 

Suicide rates per 100,000 
of population 

% discharged in-patients 
followed up within 7 

calendar days   

% unscheduled care 
presentations where  
self-harm is a feature    

% lithium toxicity in the 
last 12 months    

Incidents of physical 
violence per 1,000 

occupied psychiatric bed 
days     

% of presentation 
psychosis patients 

that start SIGN or NICE 
evidence based treatment 

within 14 calendar days

Mental Health (MH) - 30 National Key Quality Indicators (QIs)

Person Centred
mental health services

% carers with MH 
problems supported to 

continue their caring role*  

% adults with MH 
problems supported 

at home reporting 
maintained or improved 

quality of life 

% people with MH who 
report their views taken 

into account 

Number of people with 
advanced statements 

registered per year with 
the Mental Welfare 

Commission for Scotland

% patients seen last 
month that show 

improved personal 
outcomes     

Effective
delivery of mental 

health services

% number of people 
spend in hospital when 

they are ready to be 
discharged per 1,000 

population* 

 % people prescribed 
antipsychotics for reasons 
other than psychoses and 
bipolar disorder treatment 

% people with severe and 
enduring mental illness/
and or learning disability 
who have had their BMI 

measured and recorded in 
last 12 months 

% of patients seen for 
at least a month that 
show improvement 
in functioning using 
any clinical outcome 

measurement over the 
previous month 

% of patients seen for at 
least 1 month that show 

improvement in symptom 
severity using any clinical 
outcome measurement 

over the previous month    

Efficient
management of mental 

health services

Rate of emergency bed 
delays for adults* 

% of readmissions to 
hospital within 28 days of 

discharge* 

Total Psychiatric  
in-patient beds per 
100,000 population

Total mental health spend 
as a % of total spend 

% of did not attend 
appointments for 
community based 

services of people with 
mental health problems   

* Integration Indicators 

Equitable
access to mental health 

services

Standardised mortality 
rate for person in contact 

with Mental Health 
Services* 

Number of Emergency 
Detention Certificates per 

100,000 population 

% of people with severe 
and enduring mental 

illness and/or a learning 
disability that have had 
an annual health check 

within previous 
12 months   

% of under 18 psychiatric 
admissions admitted 

out with NHS Specialist 
CAMHS Wards 

% of caseload with an 
anticipatory care plan

P
age 71



References

1	 Scottish Government (2018), Mental Health in Scotland. Available online  
https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Services/Mental-Health

2	 Scottish Government (2013), Keys to Life, Scotland’s Learning Disability Strategy. Available online 
https://keystolife.info/ 

3	 Scottish Government, Keys to Life - Unlocking Futures for People with Learning Disabilities 
Implementation framework and priorities 2019-2021 
Available online https://keystolife.info/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Keys-To-Life-
Implementation-Framework.pdf

4	 Scottish Government (2018), National Performance Framework. Available online 
https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/ 

5	 NHS Scotland (2019) Putting People at the Heart of Leadership in Health and Care in Scotland: 
Project Lift Progress Report  

6	 Aberdeen City HSCP (2018), Delivery Plan for Action 15 of National Mental Health Strategy. 
Available online https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/globalassets/action15plan.pdf 

7	 Aberdeenshire HSCP (2019), Adult Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-24 (Draft) Available 
online  file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/AHSCP%20Publication%20Mental%20Health%20&%20
Wellbeing%20Strategy%202019-2024%20(Draft).pdf

8	 Moray Community Planning Partnership (2016) Good Mental Health for All. Available online 
https://hscmoray.co.uk/uploads/1/0/8/1/108104703/good_mental_health_for_all_in_
moray_2016-2026.pdf

9		 ALLIANCE (2019), Hearing the Voice of People and Communities – Grampian System-wide Mental 
Health and Learning Disability Services Review report

10	Governance International (2013), Co-production of Health and Wellbeing in Scotland. Available 
online http://www.govint.org/fileadmin/user_upload/publications/Co-Production_of_Health_
and_Wellbeing_in_Scotland.pdf  

11	Wolpert M., Harris R., Hodges S.,  Fuggle P., James R., & Munk S. (2019) Thrive Framework for System 
Change. Available online http://implementingthrive.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/THRIVE-
Framework-for-system-change-2019.pdf

12	Scottish Government (2014) Integration of Health and Social Care, Available online 
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Policy/Adult-Health-SocialCare-Integrationvision 

13	Scottish Government (2015) Route Map to the 2020 Vision for Health and Social Care, Available 
online http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Policy/Quality-Strategy/routemap2020vision

14	Scottish Government (2017), Mental Health Strategy 2017-27. Available online  
https://www.gov.scot/publications/mental-health-strategy-2017-2027/pages/1/

15	Scottish Government (2013), Keys to Life, Scotland’s Learning Disability Strategy. Available online 
https://keystolife.info/  

16	Scottish Government, Keys to Life - Unlocking Futures for People with Learning Disabilities 
Implementation framework and priorities 2019-2021. Available online  
https://keystolife.info/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Keys-To-Life-Implementation-Framework.pdf

17	Scottish Government (2017), National Dementia Strategy 2017-2020. Available online  
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-national-dementia-strategy-2017-2020/

18	NHS Grampian (2016), Grampian Clinical Strategy 2016-21. Available online  
https://foi.nhsgrampian.org/globalassets/foidocument/dispublicdocuments---all-documents/
Grampian_Clinical_Strategy_2016-2021_Summary_Version.pdf

Glossary

ALISS A Local Information System for Scotland

COG Chief Officers Group in Grampian

CPP Community Planning Partnership

4 Tier Model and 
Thrive Framework

The 4 Tier Model and Thrive Framework has been adapted from Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Services: 

Tier 1 - universal services including third sector provision 
Tier 2 - joint delivery of universal and specialist services 
Tier 3 - specialist multi-disciplinary outpatient services 
Tier 4 - specialist multi-disciplinary outpatient and inpatient services

GP General Practitioners

HSCP Health and Social Care Partnership

ICSP Integrated Children’s Services Plans

IJB Integrated Joint Board also sometimes referred to in the plural as 
Integration Authorities of Grampian

Integration 
Authorities in 

Grampian

The 3 Integrated Joint Boards are Aberdeen City IJB, Aberdeenshire IJB 
and Moray IJB

IT Information Technology

QIs Quality Indicators

Lived Experience Lived experience is the knowledge and understanding you get when 
you have lived through something. When we talk about people with 
mental health lived experience, we mean people living with mental 
illness and family or friends supporting someone living with mental 
illness (sometimes called carers).  When we talk about people with 
learning disability and mental health lived experience, we mean people 
living with both a learning disability and mental illness and their carers

LOIP Local Outcome Improvement Plans of the Community Planning 
Partnerships

LTC Long Term Conditions

MHLD Mental Health and Learning Disability Framework

NHSG National Health Service Grampian

PCIP Primary Care Improvement Plans

SLT Systems Leadership Team for NHS Grampian 

TEC Technology Enabled Care

The Alliance Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland

TSI Third Sector Interface

P
age 72

http://
https://keystolife.info/
https://keystolife.info/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Keys-To-Life-Implementation-Framework.pdf
https://keystolife.info/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Keys-To-Life-Implementation-Framework.pdf
https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/ 
https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/globalassets/action15plan.pdf
file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/AHSCP%20Publication%20Mental%20Health%20&%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202019-2024%20(Draft).pdf
file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/AHSCP%20Publication%20Mental%20Health%20&%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202019-2024%20(Draft).pdf
https://hscmoray.co.uk/uploads/1/0/8/1/108104703/good_mental_health_for_all_in_moray_2016-2026.pdf
https://hscmoray.co.uk/uploads/1/0/8/1/108104703/good_mental_health_for_all_in_moray_2016-2026.pdf
http://www.govint.org/fileadmin/user_upload/publications/Co-Production_of_Health_and_Wellbeing_in_Scotland.pdf
http://www.govint.org/fileadmin/user_upload/publications/Co-Production_of_Health_and_Wellbeing_in_Scotland.pdf
http://implementingthrive.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/THRIVE-Framework-for-system-change-2019.pdf
http://implementingthrive.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/THRIVE-Framework-for-system-change-2019.pdf
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Policy/Adult-Health-SocialCare-Integrationvision
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Policy/Quality-Strategy/routemap2020vision
https://www.gov.scot/publications/mental-health-strategy-2017-2027/pages/1/
https://keystolife.info
https://keystolife.info/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Keys-To-Life-Implementation-Framework.pdf 
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-national-dementia-strategy-2017-2020/
https://foi.nhsgrampian.org/globalassets/foidocument/dispublicdocuments---all-documents/Grampian_Clinical_Strategy_2016-2021_Summary_Version.pdf
https://foi.nhsgrampian.org/globalassets/foidocument/dispublicdocuments---all-documents/Grampian_Clinical_Strategy_2016-2021_Summary_Version.pdf


This publication is also available in other formats and languages on request.  
Please call Equality and Diversity on 01224 551116 or 01224 552245 

or email grampian@nhs.net

Ask for publication CGD 190778

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 74



1

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1. This report seeks approval of our Aberdeen City Community Mental Health 
Delivery Plan, known as Promoting Good Mental Health (appendix a), 
which will run from April 2020 – March 2023. 

Date of Meeting 24 March 2020

Report Title Mental Health Delivery Plan

Report Number HSCP19.113

Lead Officer 

Kevin Dawson, Lead for Community 
Mental Health, Learning Disabilities & 
Substance Misuse Services

Report Author Details 
Jenny Rae
Strategic Development Officer
Jenrae@aberdeencity.gov.uk
01224 523994

Consultation Checklist Completed Yes 

Directions Required No

Appendices 
a.  Promoting Good Mental Health 

Delivery Plan
b.

Page 75

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Jenrae@aberdeencity.gov.uk


2

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
2. Recommendations 

2.1. It is recommended that the Integration Joint Board:

a) Approves the Community Mental Health Delivery Plan known as 
Promoting Good Mental Health with effect from March 2020;

b) Notes that update reports on implementation will be presented 
annually to Clinical Care Governance Committee

3. Summary of Key Information

3.1. Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership alongside partners and 
stakeholders have developed the first Delivery Plan for Community Mental 
Health Services in Aberdeen City.

3.2. The Delivery Plan sets out a strategic vision for Community Mental Health 
Services which aligned with the Aberdeen City Health and Social Care 
Partnership Strategic Plan.

3.3. The Delivery Plan sets out a range of actions to be undertaken which will 
promote this strategic vision.

3.4. A National Mental Health Strategy sets a Scotland wide vision for mental 
health services.  Our Delivery Plan provides the vision for local community-
based services.  A key driver being the development and operationalising of 
locality-based service which support and promote good mental health. 

3.5. The Delivery Plan seeks to recognise and value lived experience and 
partnership approaches to developing good mental health in Aberdeen City,

3.6. A series of engagement and consultation events, alongside two formal 
consultation periods, supported the development of the Delivery Plan.  A 
variety of partners and stakeholders participated in these events and 
processes from July 2019 to February 2020.

Page 76



3

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
3.7. Alongside this work a strategic framework has been developed for 

specialist and in-patient mental health services.  Whilst the Delivery Plan 
does not cover these services a close relationship can be seen between 
community and specialist approaches, and a continued working relationship 
will be key to delivery of good mental health in Aberdeen City.

4. Implications for IJB 

4.1. Equalities – An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment has been 
completed (appendix b).  This report will have a neutral impact however the 
Delivery Plan will promote good mental health in Aberdeen City and 
promote people affected by poor mental health and their carers as equal 
partners.

4.2. Fairer Scotland Duty -This Delivery Plan will seek to align with other 
strategic documents and their vision, such as the ACHSCP Strategic Plan 
and the Community Planning Aberdeen Local Outcome Improvement Plan, 
to improve outcomes for people with poor mental health and wellbeing in 
Aberdeen.  Additionally, the vision and strategic outcomes and priorities of 
the National Mental Health Strategy will continue to be applied and have 
guided the development of local Delivery Plan.  The specific actions 
identified in the delivery plan presented for approval seek to reduce 
inequalities and strengthen meaningful involvement of people in this 
process by co-producing solutions and measuring success.

4.3. Financial - There are no direct financial implications arising from the 
recommendations of this report.

4.4. Workforce - There are no direct workforce implications arising from the 
recommendations of this report

4.5. Legal - There are no direct legal implications arising from the 
recommendations of this report

5. Links to ACHSCP Strategic Plan 

5.1. The recommendations in this report complement the strategic priorities 
outlined in the Partnership’s Strategic Plan primarily by supporting the 

Page 77



4

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
development of person-centred approaches to care and support and by 
enabling supported individuals to strengthen their connection and 
contribution to their local community.  The development of the Delivery Plan 
is detailed specifically within the Strategic Plan.

6. Management of Risk 

6.1.  Identified risks(s)

Failure to approve the Delivery Plan.
This risk is minimal due to the ongoing engagement with partners and 
leadership colleagues.  Failure to approve the Delivery Plan could lead to 
reputational damage.  The approval of the Delivery Plan would mitigate this 
risk and bring clear strategic direction to Community Mental Health 
Services. 
 
Link to risks on strategic or operational risk register: 

(8) There is a risk of reputational damage to the IJB and its partner 
organisations resulting from complexity of function, delegation and delivery 
of services across health and social care.

Page 78



5

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
6.2. How might the content of this report impact or mitigate these risks:

The content of this report seeks to mitigate the known risks by 
recommending a decision which supports the reputation of the IJB & 
Partnership, the development of the Mental Health Delivery Plan promotes 
person centred approaches to care and support and the strengthening of 
community connections.  

The risk is Low. 

Approvals 
These will be added once your report 
has final approval for submission to 
committee. 

Sandra MacLeod
(Chief Officer)

These will be added once your report 
has final approval for submission to 
committee.

Alex Stephen 
(Chief Finance Officer)

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 80



1

Promoting Good Mental Health
Our Community Mental Health and Wellbeing Delivery Plan 2020-2023

P
age 81



2

If you require further information about any aspect 
of this document, please contact:

Aberdeen City Health & Social Care Partnership
Business Hub 11, 2nd Floor West
Marischal College
Broad Street
Aberdeen
AB10 1AB

01224 523237
ACHSCPEnquiries@aberdeencity.gov.uk 
aberdeencityhscp.scot
twitter.com/HSCAberdeen

This document is also available in large print, other formats and 
other languages on request.   

For help with language / interpreting and other formats of 
communication support, please contact 01224 522856 / 522047

P
age 82



3

Contents

1	 Summary

2	 Foreword

3 	 Introduction

4	 Our Strategic Vision

5 	 Our Partners

6 	 Our Aims & Actions

7 	 Our Next Steps

8	 Appendix 1 – Action Plan

9 	 Appendix 2 – Glossary

10 	Appendix 3 – Related Policy Documents

P
age 83



4

Explore 
the creation of 

community mental 
health and wellbe-

ing workers

Alternative treatment
options through digital

solutions

Improve discharge
planning into the

community.

Work with partners
To review service 

delivery & resources

Improved engagement 
& feedback to support

Improving services.

Promote use of 
Advanced Statements 

to improve care
and treatment.

Improve & promote 
“Know who to turn to”

information for
mental health 
& wellbeing

Improved patient 
pathways

Using information
from those with 
experience to 

develop services.

Work with locality
empowerment groups 

to ensure local
needs are 
addressedEarly intervention

with young people and
Improved transitions 

moving to adult
services

Increase trauma
awareness within

communities
OUR ACTIONS

OUR VISIONS

OUR AIMS

OUR STRATEGIC VISION: We echo the vision set out in the National Mental Health Strategy 2017 – 2027 “People can 
get the right help at the right time, expect recovery, and fully enjoy their rights, free from discrimination & Stigma.”

Prevention - People are
supported to enjoy the
best possible mental
health & Wellbeing

Self Management – 
People who experience 
poor mental health are 
supported to self-manage 
in their communities.

Recovery –
people who experience 
mental illness are sup-
ported through their 
recovery

Dignity & Rights –
Support provided re-
spects the dignity and
rights of the individual

Support for Carers –
Carers of people with
poor mental health will
be supported to be
equal partners

Community Mental Health Delivery Plan & Actions on a Page

Support the 
role of carers

Promote use of 
electronic tools to 
promote wellbeing

activities in 
communities

Work with 
partners to 

showcase local 
supports

P
age 84



5

“
“

Foreword
Promoting good mental health and wellbeing is a priority for Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership. 
Ensuring effective support is available for people to help maintain and recover good mental health will be of 
key importance if we are to collectively value the contributions that everyone can make to our community 
regardless of periods of ill-health.

This Delivery Plan sets out our collaborative approach to community mental health and wellbeing in Aberdeen. 
Ensuring that Health and Social Care professionals, individuals, their families and communities, including 
organisations which provide mental health support, are all considered as equal partners is vital. 

We will work alongside all partner organisations and stakeholders, including close working relationships with 
other Integration Joint Boards (Aberdeenshire and Moray), Community Planning partners and other services 
such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and In-Patient and Specialist Services 
at Royal Cornhill Hospital.

Ensuring that a person-centred approach is at the heart of support to maintain or recover good mental health 
will involve the efforts of many areas. Co-ordination with colleagues in: Integrated Children’s and Family Services, 
Housing, Community Planning, Primary Care, Police and Fire Services, as well as other Council and NHS Grampian Services
in addition to the Third and Independent Sectors will support the maximisation of a truly holistic approach 
to mental health and wellbeing.

We aim to support people to have the best possible mental health and wellbeing. If people require support this should be 
delivered where possible in their communities, whilst promoting their rights and respecting their dignity. Our recovery 
focus values the individual as an expert by experience and aims to provide timely and appropriate support to Carers.

Whilst we cannot ignore that demand for public services is increasing, and resources, whether staffing or financial, are 
reducing it is important to recognise that when we work together in a person-centred way different opportunities for 
innovation can present themselves. We collectively hold a number of skills, experiences and knowledge, which when 
used in the right way, can offer meaningful and valued support to individuals and our community, 
placing good mental health and wellbeing at the centre.
					     									         Sandra MacLeod

Sandra MacLeod
ACHSCP Chief 

Officer

P
age 85



6

3.	 Introduction

Promoting good mental health and wellbeing in Aberdeen is a goal we all seek to achieve.  

This delivery plan outlines our vision, aims and actions.

Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership (ACHSCP) is responsible for the delivery of Health and Social Care services in 
Aberdeen City. This joint approach between Aberdeen City Council, NHS Grampian and wider partners holds responsibility for adult 
community mental health and wellbeing services. More information regarding ACHSCP and the services it provides can be found here.

Mental Health and Wellbeing services are delivered by many partners across Aberdeen City with collaboration a key focus to ensure 
quality, sustainability and responsiveness are at the centre.

All services provided by ACHSCP are delivered in line with our Strategic Plan.  
This plan sets out our organisational vision, values and aims.  

			 

At the heart of Health and Social Care in Aberdeen are the aims of:	 	 	

A range of commitments and priorities are clearly identified within this plan, including:

Commitment:	 Promote positive health and wellbeing

Priority:		  Develop Mental Health Strategy (Year 1) 
			   and deliver on this in future years

This delivery plan seeks to highlight the actions which will be undertaken 
in order to promote good mental health across Aberdeen City.

Prevention
Resilience
Personalisation
Connections
Communities

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

Did you know...
The Community Planning Partnership brings together 
public sector agencies who are working together to 
deliver improved outcomes for people in Aberdeen.

The Local Outcome Improvement Plan sets out the 
detail of how improvements will be made, including in 
relation to mental health.

P
age 86

https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/
https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/about-us/our-strategic-plan/


7

4.	 Our Strategic Vision

We echo the vision set out in the national Mental Health Strategy 2017-2027 and welcome the ambitious shift in emphasis, placing wider 
focus on mental health and wellbeing as a matter of broader public interest, not just the remit of health and social care services.

people can get the right help at the right time, expect recovery, 
and fully enjoy their rights, free from discrimination and stigma 

Mental Health Strategy 2017-2027

O
ur

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 V

is
io

n  

“

“

Did you know...
The Distress Brief Intervention supports people presenting in distress to front line services, such as Accident & Emergency or the Police. The aim is 
to provide a framework for improved inter-agency working and collaboration to provide an effective response to people in distress. 

A Distress Brief Intervention (DBI) is a time limited and supportive problem-solving contact with an individual in distress.  It is a two-level approach.  
DBI level 1 is delivered by front line staff and involves a compassionate response, signposting and offer of referral to a DBI level 2 service. 

DBI level 2 is provided by trained staff who would see the person within 24-hours of referral and provide community problem solving, support and 
signposting for a period of up to 14 days. The approach is being initially piloted in five sites across Scotland - Aberdeen City is one of the pilot sites.

Whilst traditional views see the response to mental health and wellbeing as a medical matter, the focus of the national 
Mental Health Strategy on wider links into statutory services and our communities is one which we aim to follow. 
The response to mental health and wellbeing need not always be one of a medical nature, improving supports available 
in communities and across core issues such as employment, welfare and physical health should be valued. Treatment 
may be the right approach for some people, with a person-centred focus treatment can be delivered in the right 
place, right time and in the right way to support the recovery journey.

We all have mental health, which can range from good to poor, and can fluctuate over time or due to wider circumstances. 
Mental health remains a major public health challenge, locally and nationally, despite Aberdeen having higher self-reported 
mental wellbeing than other parts of Scotland.

P
age 87



8

There are many factors which affect mental health and wellbeing, including physical health and 
wellbeing, employment, housing, poverty, adversity & trauma, isolation and personal resil-
ience. People with mental ill-health are known to be more likely to experience poorer physical 
health and may have reduced family or community connections. We need to think in a more 
rounded way about how we promote good mental health and wellbeing which, supports a 
reduction in health inequalities.

Over recent years we have commenced a gradual shift away from providing centralised 
hospital -based services to develop care and treatment, which is closer to the individual 
and where possible in their community. We will continue in this shift to ensure the potential 
within individuals and communities is recognised and valued.

Our strategic approach is built on the core view that people facing mental ill-health or poor 
mental wellbeing are experts by experience. They are a key partner in the delivery of any 
support or services they may access. We aim to empower people to build personal resilience, 
which is crucial for them to thrive and grow. By taking a recovery focus we understand that 
every individual’s experience and journey is unique and the support we offer requires to be 
flexible over time, in nature and in intensity.

A variety of supports and services will always be required, which includes hospital based or 
specialist services as well as broader community led supports. These should be delivered 
by a range of partners, including individuals themselves. Individual responses to their own 
mental health, including reactions to trauma, will guide the way care and support is provided. 
Learning from the experiences of individuals, including their experiences of care and support 
targeted at maintaining or improving mental health and wellbeing, will inform the ways in 
which services and broader support mechanisms are designed and commissioned.

In line with the Scottish Transforming Psychological Trauma Framework (2017) work is also 
being undertaken to ensure that services are trauma- informed and that the needs of indi-
viduals affected by trauma are recognised and responded to in a way that supports recovery.

National Mental Health Strategy
Action 15

Using new monies from Scottish Government 
we are developing posts for Psychological 
Wellbeing Practitioners who will provide guided
self-help and group work for mild mental 
health problems such as stress and low mood. 

We expect to have this new workforce in place 
by the summer 2020. We are also developing 
support services within Accident & Emergency,
the Kittybrewster Custody Suite and HMP 
Grampian.

P
age 88



9

The natural environment can provide many benefits regarding 
mental health and wellbeing. Simply getting outdoors can have a 
positive effect and basic activities such as walking and gardening 
can have a very positive impact. Access to local greenspace is 
proven to have a noticeable positive effect on both physical and 
mental health, for instance on stress levels.  Find out more here...

Penumbra First Response service is available Monday to Friday 
for adults with mental health problems who are in crisis and 
require immediate help and support. There is no waiting list 
or application form and support is provided the way you want
whether that’s text, email, phone or face to face.

We are 
developing a local 

Dementia Plan

Every GP practice 
in Aberdeen City has a 

Psychological Therapist who will 
treat mild-moderate mental health 

problems such as anxiety 
and depression. 

Appointments take place at 
your GP surgery or at 

the Health Village

Did you know…

We are 
developing a local 
Suicide Prevention 

Plan

Hospital and specialist services 
based at Royal Cornhill Hospital which 
are for the whole of Grampian are now 
managed by Aberdeen City Health and 

Social Care Partnership. These services work 
closely with the community services that 

this Delivery Plan covers.

Did you know… 
the partnership website can 

direct you to a wide range of 
resources to assist and improve 
your mental wellbeing. You can 

find the website here.

P
age 89

https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/home


10

Our Partners

The aspiration of promoting good mental health and wellbeing is one which we 
cannot achieve alone.

A range of partners will be vital to the success of this vision, each bringing varied 
skills, knowledge, experience and expertise. This broad partnership can only 
strengthen our collective approach, with all partners valued equally for their 
contributions.

Viewing people with experience of mental ill-health or poor mental wellbeing as 
partners is crucial to the successful delivery of support and services. Developing 
and maintaining strong relationships with experts by experience and wider 
community groups will be a key focus during the life of this delivery plan.

A variety of methods already exist within Aberdeen City which enable good 
connections to be made with individuals with experience, their families and 
other interested parties. The Mental Health Partnership Group have provided 
valuable insight which has guided the creation of this delivery plan.

A Provider Network of Third and Independent Sector organisations is established 
in Aberdeen and will enable good relationships to be built and maintained with 
organisations who provide services and supports.

ACHSCP operates a 3-locality model within Aberdeen City which correlates to 
the model operated by the Community Planning Partnership. Active citizen led 
groups already form part of the governance arrangements within localities and 
the wide reach of such groups will be valuable in ensuring this delivery plan is 
broadly known and can be achieved within our communities.

O
ur

 P
ar

tn
er

s  
Did you know…
Aberdeen City have a carers service specifically 
for carers of people with mental health problems.
They can get specialised help and support as well 
as having a right to a carers support plan to help 
them in their caring role.

The Mental Health Partnership Group is an 
established group made up of representation 
from Mental Health Care Providers, General 
Practice, Public Health, Police, Housing, Social 
Work and Third Sector (such as ACVO and 
Penumbra). 

P
age 90



11

Prevention forms one of the ACHSCP core strategic aims. This, alongside early intervention, 
personalisation and supported self-management will be the keystones of our approach. 

Strong emphasis will rightly be placed on the community ability to actively support the 
promotion of good mental health and wellbeing. Where possible local communities will be 
a focus point for any delivery of services to people facing mental ill-health or poor mental 
wellbeing. 

This should support our approach, which seeks to reduce stigma and discrimination
and enhance people’s ability to live as independently as they choose.

Local Outcome Improvement Project

Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership are working to reduce 
the number of males who commit suicide by increasing the number of 
people trained in how to talk to someone they think are at risk. 

We have rolled out training to taxi drivers, hairdressers, tattoo artists
and universities.

	
O

ur
 P

ar
tn

er
s

Did you know…
There are various supports available for Children and 
Young People, ranging from support and awareness 
raising in Schools through to more specialist support 
for those with higher needs.

There are projects currently underway through the 
Local Outcome Improvement Plan (LOIP) which seek 
to improve and support the mental health of Children 
and Young People.  You can find out more about 
Improvement Projects here.

Specialist Children and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services, CAMHs, are one of the services now 
managed by Aberdeen City Health and Social Care 
Partnership on behalf of Grampian. You can find out 
more about these services here.

Did you know… 
all school nurses are undertaking 
Low Intensity Anxiety Management 
training as part of our commitment 
to early intervention

P
age 91

https://communityplanningaberdeen.org.uk/%0D
https://www.gov.scot/publications/child-adolescent-mental-health-services-camhs-nhs-scotland-national-service-specification/


12

6.	 Our Aims and Actions

Our core aims and priority actions can be summarised as follows:

Prevention:

People are supported to enjoy the best possible mental health and wellbeing.

Working in partnership to reduce the preventable causes of mental ill-health and providing earlier access to support, 
which promotes good mental wellbeing.

Priority Action(s):
•	 Explore the creation of community mental health and wellbeing worker

•	 Work with partners to showcase local supports for mental health and wellbeing, including protective factors which 
maintain good mental health

Self-management:

People who experience poor mental health are supported to self-manage in their communities.

Empowering and supporting individuals to use their own skills and connections to maintain good 
mental health and wellbeing.

Priority Action(s):
•	 Promote use of electronic and other information tools to tell people about wellbeing activities and 

groups available within communities

•	 Work with Locality Empowerment Groups (information/local support) to ensure local needs are 
•	 addressed as well as possible within resources

•	 Review & promote existing “know who to turn to’ information on Mental Health and Wellbeing

	
O

ur
 A

im
s 

an
d 

Ac
tio

ns
 

1

2

P
age 92



13

O
ur

 A
im

s 
an

d 
Ac

tio
ns

Dignity and Rights:

Support provided respects the dignity and rights of the individual

Emphasis is placed on valuing the views and experiences of 
people in relation to their mental health, whilst seeking to reduce 
stigma and discrimination

Priority Action(s):
•	 Enhance engagement with individuals and carers to ensure 
      they are equal partners in care

•	 Embed a human rights approach within mental health
      supports and services, advancing peer support and 
      the voice of people with lived experience

Recovery:

People who experience mental illness are supported throughout 
their recovery.

Individuals define their own recovery journey and are supported 
in this journey where required

Priority Action(s):
•	 Review Discharge Planning to enhance transition between 
•	 hospital and home/other care settings

•	 Citizens have access to a clear pathway when accessing 
      multiple services (i.e. people with a more than one condition)

Support for Carers:

Carers of people with poor mental health will be supported 
to be equal partners

Carers are actively recognised and valued for the vital role 
they place in supporting an individual in their recovery

Priority Action:
•	 Recognise, optimise and support the valued role 
      of Carers within MH Services

3

4

5

A full list of actions for this 
Delivery Plan are provided in Appendix 1,  

with more detail regarding how they will be 
measured and achieved.

The Mental Health Partnership Group will 
hold accountability for the Delivery Plan 

and seek to ensure all actions are 
progressed and achieved.

P
age 93



14

7.	 Our Next Steps

The contributions of a variety of partners will be required to achieve the actions within 
this delivery plan.

Partners from all areas including Health and Social Care Services, Community Planning 
organisations, individuals, their families and communities will all play key roles in enabling 
Aberdeen City to be a place where good community mental health and wellbeing 
is actively promoted

Innovative solutions will be required to address long-standing and complex issues. 
The changes we hope to make will not happen right away. But this strategic approach 
will pave the way for longer term success. It is important to ensure that we all recognise 
the role we play and our collaborative approach will be one founded on good quality, 
honest and respectful relationships. 

We invite everyone to take an active interest in promoting good mental health and 
wellbeing, whether this is for themselves, a family member, the community or for wider 
societal change in Aberdeen.

We will seek to engage in meaningful conversations with a range of partners as we 
progress through the life of this Delivery Plan. We will report regularly on our progress, 
both within our own organisational governance channels and into the public sphere, 
enhancing our collective accountability to achieve the aims outlined and ultimately 
to promote good mental health and wellbeing in Aberdeen.

O
ur

 N
ex

t S
te

ps

P
age 94



15

Action

Explore the creation of community mental 
health and wellbeing workers

Promote use of electronic and other 
information tools to tell people about 
wellbeing activities and groups available 
within communities

Contribute to local Digital & Technology work 
streams to provide efficient alternative treat-
ment options. (e.g. NHS Near Me)

Jointly with our Partners (i.e. Police, Third Sec-
tor, Housing etc) to review service delivery, 
current resources and future needs

Work with Locality Empowerment Groups 
(information/local support) to ensure local 
needs are addressed as well as possible 
within resources

How will we know it’s working?

People report improved access to information 
and appropriate services/support

People report improved access to information 
and appropriate services/support

Information will be up to date 
and comprehensive

Alternative treatment options in place to give 
citizens a degree of choice to meet their needs

Improved planning future shape of services/ 
resources better meeting the need

Review complete & recommendations identified

Locality priorities identified and met within 
resources available

How will we achieve this?

A working group within the Action 15 Steering Group 
will consider how this role can be created, funded 
and delivered, considering other existing projects

Take part and circulate information on the guidance 
and launch of Scotland’s Services Directory.

Encourage organisations to use and update these tools

Colleagues with a remit for digital to be invited to 
attend the Mental Health Partnership Group 
to learn more

Partners will be invited to join the Mental Health Part-
nership Group to set out the terms of reference of 
the review

Teams will be aligned to the locality structure 
and representatives will link into the 
Locality Engagement Groups

1

2

3

4

5

DATE

By March 2021

From 2020

From 2021

From 2020

From 2020

Appendix 1 Please note the actions are not listed by order of priority Action Plan

P
age 95

https://www.attendanywhere.com/
https://www.nhsinform.scot/scotlands-service-directory
https://www.nhsinform.scot/scotlands-service-directory


16

Action

Establish clear links with Integrated Chil-
dren’s Services partners and plans for 
children and young people’s mental health 
and wellbeing

Review Discharge Planning to enhance 
transition between hospital and 
home/other care settings

Work with partners (including Integrated 
Children’s Services) to increase Trauma 
Awareness

Recognise, optimise and support the valued 
role of Carers within MH Services

Enhance engagement with individuals and 
carers to ensure they are equal partners
in care

How will we know it’s working?

Transitions are well managed for individuals 
moving into adulthood

Early intervention with young people being sup-
ported by Adult Community Mental Health Services

Transitions will be successful due to good 
communication & involvement with all parties

Staff, partner agencies and appropriate 
members of the community (i.e. Teachers, 
Taxi Drivers, hairdressers etc) have
undertaken Trauma Informed Training

Carers feeling listened to and involved 
in their family members care

Receive regular feedback and use 
information to improve services.

How will we achieve this?

Integrated Children’s Services will be represented 
within the Mental Health Partnership Group

‘Transitions’ workstream is being progressed within 
the Mental Health and Learning Disability Service

A working group will be created including 
representation from specialist and community 
mental health settings, including social care 
and housing

Learn from Integrated Children’s Services plan 
for Trauma Informed Practice Training

Undertake a training audit

Work with existing carers support services 
and groups (including representatives on the 
Integration Joint Board) to understand 
how this can be developed and achieved

 
Work with existing support services and group 
(e.g. advocacy and representatives on the 
Integrated Joint Board) to understand how
improvements can be made

6

7

8

9

10

DATE

From 2020

By 2021

From 2021

From 2020

From 2020

Appendix 1 Action Plan

P
age 96



17

Action

Promote knowledge and use of Advanced 
Statements to improve care and treatment

Review & promote existing 
“know who to turn to’  information 
on Mental Health and Wellbeing

Citizens have access to a clear pathway 
when accessing multiple services (i.e. people 
with a more than one condition)

Embed a human rights approach within 
mental health supports and services, 
advancing peer support and the voice of 
people with lived experience

Work with partners to showcase local 
supports for mental health and wellbeing, 
including protective factors which maintain 
good mental health

How will we know it’s working?

Percentage increase in recorded 
Advanced Statements

Increased hits to “Know who to turn to” website

Local information will be available

People report improved coordination 
between services, including support for 
people with co-morbidity (i.e. Dual diagnosis)

Services and service developments being 
influenced and informed to a much greater 
extent by those with experience.

People report improved access to informa-
tion and appropriate services/support

How will we achieve this?

Provide information/training to staff and partners 
including people with mental ill-health and
their carers

A working group will be established to review 
current information and will include local 
innovative supports, such as Man Chat Aberdeen

A working group will be established to ensure the 
existing pathway is suitable and provide informa-
tion on the pathway to the public

The Mental Health Partnership Group will invite 
the Service User and Carer Engagement Officer
to form part of the group and to advise 
on involvement and engagement

A working group will support partners 
to develop a community event to showcase 
support in Aberdeen.

11

12

13

14

15

DATE

From 2020

By March 2021

From 2021

From 2020

By March 2021

Appendix 1 Action Plan

P
age 97



18

It is important to have a common and shared understanding of what we mean when working together to improve mental health and wellbeing, 
the following definitions are included for reference.

Outcomes 			   The end result

Poor mental health	 Is when our mental health is not what we would want it to be.

Mental illness		  Is a disease that causes mild to severe disturbances in thought and/or behaviour resulting in an inability to cope
 				    with life’s ordinary demands and routines.

Recovery			   Recovery means being able to live a good life, as defined by the person, with or without symptoms.

Wellbeing			   The state of being comfortable, healthy, or happy.

Self-management		  Taking of responsibility for one’s own behaviour and wellbeing.

Stakeholder			  A person, group or organisation that has interest or concern.

Prevention	 		  The action of stopping something from happening or arising

Strategic priorities		 Are a part of the Core Culture; they are the values aligned with the organisation’s Vision and Goals

Health Inequalities	 Are the unjust and avoidable differences in people’s health across the population 
				    and between specific population groups.

Unpaid carer	 	 Is anyone who cares, unpaid, for a friend or family member who due to illness, disability, a mental health problem 
				    or an addiction cannot cope without their support.

Locality Model	 	 Services are operated in a locally defined boundary area. 

Appendix 2 Glossary

P
age 98



19

•	 National Mental Health Strategy

•	 Self-Directed Support

•	 	 Health and Social Care Integration

•	 	 National Health and Wellbeing Outcomes

•	 Adult Support and Protection (Scotland Act 2007)

•	 Mental Health Act (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003

•	 Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000

•	 National Dementia Strategy

•	 Realistic Medicine

•	 Welfare Reform Act 2012

•	 Equality Act 2010

•	 Scotland’s National Action Plan for Human Rights 2013-2017 (SNAP)

•	 Carers (Scotland) Act 2016

•	 A Life Alongside Caring – Carers Strategy

•	 A’thegither in Aberdeen - Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023

•	 Aberdeen Autism Strategy 2019-2022

•	 Aberdeen City ADP Drug Strategy 2011-2021

•	 Aberdeen City ADP Alcohol Strategy 2009-2019

•	 Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership Strategic Plan 2019 - 2022

Appendix 3

There are several related policies that underpin and reinforce the need for a broad 
mental health and wellbeing strategy.

These include:

Related Policy Documents

P
age 99

https://www.gov.scot/publications/mental-health-strategy-2017-2027/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/self-directed-support-strategy-2010-2020-implementation-plan-2019-21/
https://www.gov.scot/policies/social-care/health-and-social-care-integration/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/national-health-wellbeing-outcomes-framework/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2007/10/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/13/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/4/contents
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-national-dementia-strategy-2017-2020/
https://www.realisticmedicine.scot/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/5/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
http://www.snaprights.info/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/SNAPpdfWeb.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2016/9/contents/enacted
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/documents/s81522/11.1.%2520Carers%2520Strategy%2520Final%2520Draft%2520for%2520approval%252027032018%2520final.pdf%20
https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/globalassets/governance/learning-disability-strategy-action-plan-2019.pdf
https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/globalassets/governance/aberdeen-autism-strategy---2019-2022.pdf
https://aberdeencityadp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/Aberdeen_City_Drugs_Strategy.pdf
https://aberdeencityadp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/AlcoholStrategy20092019.pdf
https://www.aberdeencityhscp.scot/globalassets/achscp_strategic_plan_web_final.pdf


20

01224 523237
ACHSCPEnquiries@aberdeencity.gov.uk 
aberdeencityhscp.scot
twitter.com/HSCAberdeen

If you require further information about any aspect of this document, please contact:

Aberdeen City Health & Social Care Partnership
Business Hub 11, 2nd Floor West
Marischal College
Broad Street
Aberdeen
AB10 1AB

P
age 100



1

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1. The purpose of this report is to request approval from the IJB to incur 
expenditure, and for the Board to make a Direction to Aberdeen City Council 
and NHSG in relation to projects that sit within the Partnership’s Data and 
Digital, and Demand Management Programmes of Transformation. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. It is recommended that the Integration Joint Board (IJB):

a) Approve the expenditure, as set out in Appendix A, relating to the 
Care Management Electronic Monitoring System project, and make 

Date of Meeting 24 March 2020

Report Title
Transformation – Decisions Required: 
Digital & Demand Management

Report Number HSCP.19.116

Lead Officer Sandra Ross, Chief Officer 

Report Author Details 
Gail Woodcock
Lead Transformation Manager
gwoodcock@aberdeencity.gov.uk

Consultation Checklist Completed Yes

Directions Required Yes

Appendices 

a. Care Management Electronic 
Monitoring System Business Case 
(confidential)

b. Care Management Electronic 
Monitoring System Direction to 
ACC

c. Adult Vaccination Business Case
d. Adult Vaccinations Direction to 

NHSG

Page 101

Agenda Item 12



2

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
the Direction relating to this project as per Appendix B and instruct 
the Chief Officer to issue this direction to Aberdeen City Council.

b) Approve the expenditure, as set out in Appendix C, relating to the 
transfer of Adult Vaccinations from General Practice, and make the 
Direction relating to this project as per Appendix D and instruct the 
Chief Officer to issue this Direction to NHS Grampian.

3. Summary of Key Information

Background

3.1. Good governance and delegation levels require the IJB to approve the level 
of expenditure on these projects and make Directions to both NHS 
Grampian and Aberdeen City Council that will enable funding to be 
released to deliver the projects. The governance structure in place has and 
will continue to ensure effective operational and executive oversight.

3.2. This report seeks authorisation from the IJB to incur expenditure in respect 
of items which have been considered and recommended for approval in 
principle by the Executive Programme Board.

3.3. In order to allow this report to be considered in a transparent manner, 
details relating to finances have been attached as confidential appendices.

Care Management Electronic Monitoring System

3.4. The contract for the digital system that is in place on behalf of the 
partnership to support several business processes and functions relating to 
the commissioning of care at home for adult services is due to come to an 
end in April 2020.

3.5. An evaluation of options for the continuation of these functions following 
this date has been undertaken. The evaluation also covers how potential 
solutions will support the partnership’s new strategic direction for the care 
and support at home model in the city (agreed by IJB in December 2019).

3.6. These options are as set out and evaluated in the Business Case at 
Appendix A.  The business case concludes that the preferred option is to 
extend the existing contract with direct award for one year. This will provide 

Page 102



3

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
time for a full assessment of a preferred approach to align with the new 
care model.

Transfer of Adult Vaccinations from General Practice

3.7. As part of the Primary Care Improvement Plan and the new GMC contract, 
there is a requirement to transfer the provision of vaccinations from general 
practice to community provision.

3.8. These vaccinations include vaccinations which are delivered to the adult 
population, including flu, pneumococcal, and shingles vaccinations.

3.9. Discussions have been ongoing with a range of stakeholders and in the 
medium term there is an ambition to link the delivery of adult vaccinations in 
with our Community Treatment and Care Services, plans for which are still 
underway. In the meantime, in order to facilitate transfer of these services 
from General Practice, and to learn more about what the demands of this 
service are, plans have been developed to shift the delivery of adult 
vaccinations to community immunisation nursing provision, while still 
working closely with GP practices.   Where possible, the immunisations will 
be carried out in practices; and support such as reception and fridge 
provision will be provided by practices in the coming year.

3.10. The business case attached at appendix C sets out an interim plan to 
transfer adult vaccination delivery mainly within GP practices, while the 
future longer-term plans continue to be developed.

3.11. The business case identifies a range of costs, which will be refined as 
various variables are confirmed. The IJB is asked to approve the maximum 
cost, noting that only the actual required resources would be utilised, and 
updates will be provided through the Risk, Audit and Performance 
committee.

4. Implications for IJB 

4.1. Equalities 

It is anticipated that the implementation of these plans will have a neutral to 
positive impact on the protected characteristics as protected by the Equality 
Act 2010. 

The transfer of adult vaccinations may support greater focus on target 
groups to encourage uptake. 

Page 103



4

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
4.2. Fairer Scotland Duty

It is anticipated that the implementation of these plans, will have a neutral to 
positive impact on people affected by socio-economic disadvantage. 

The transfer of adult vaccinations may support greater focus on target 
groups to encourage uptake. 

4.3. Financial

The recommendations in this report will result in financial expenditure from 
existing core budgets. Full details of the financial implications are in the 
associated business cases.
 

4.4      Workforce

The transfer of adult vaccinations will require the recruitment of a number of 
staff, including significant numbers at peak times, such as in preparation for 
the flu vaccination period. It is anticipated that these staff will be recruited 
with annualised hours contracts as well as being sourced through existing 
Bank staff.

4.5    Legal

It is intended that the existing contract for the electronic system will be 
extended with a direct award for one year. The partnership has a legal 
exemption from full market appraisal as per regulations which mean that it 
can issue a direct award to the existing supplier.

4.6      Other  - NA

5. Links to ACHSCP Strategic Plan 

5.1. The recommendations in this report link to our work to transform care at 
home and align to the Prevention aim in the Strategic Plan.

6. Management of Risk 

6.1.  Identified risks(s)

Risks relating to the Transformation Programme are managed throughout 
the transformation development and implementation processes. The 

Page 104



5

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
Executive Programme Board and portfolio Programme Boards have a key 
role to ensure that these risks are identified and appropriately managed. 

The main risk relates to not achieving the transformation that we aspire to 
which in turn impacts on the Integration Joint Board’s ability to deliver the 
strategic plan and to sustain the delivery of our statutory services within the 
funding available

6.2. Link to risks on strategic or operational risk register:

This report links to the following two risks on the Strategic Risk Register.

Risk 9. Failure to deliver transformation at a pace or scale required 
by the demographic and financial pressures in the system 

Risk 2. There is a risk of financial failure, that demand outstrips 
budget and IJB cannot deliver on priorities, statutory work, and 
project an overspend

6.3. How might the content of this report impact or mitigate these risks: 

The report seeks approval to progress a number of projects which will 
directly positively contribute to mitigating these risks.

Approvals  

 

Sandra Macleod 
(Chief Officer) 

 

Alex Stephen  
(Chief Finance Officer) 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



Prior to sending this direction, please attach a copy of the draft IJB minutes, original 
report and the completed consultation checklist.

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

DIRECTION 

ISSUED UNDER S26-28 OF THE PUBLIC BODIES (JOINT WORKING) (SCOTLAND) ACT 2014
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

The ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL is hereby directed to deliver for the Board, the 
services noted below in pursuance of the functions noted below and within the 
associated budget noted below. 

Services will be provided in line with the Board’s Strategic Plan and existing 
operational arrangements pending future directions from the Board.

Related Report Number:- HSCP19116

Approval from IJB received on:- 24th March 2020

Description of services/functions: - 

Direct award to Hass technologies to extend their current contract for one year for 
the provision CM2000 the current digital system which supports several business 
processes and functions. 

Reference to the integration scheme:- Annex 2, Part 2 – Support services

Link to strategic priorities (with reference to strategic plan and commissioning 
plan):- This report links to Strategic Aim 3 Personalisation “Ensuring that the 
right care is provided in the right place and at the right time when people are in need”

Timescales involved:-

Start date:-  10.04.2020

End date:- 10.04.2021

Associated Budget:- S60501 58199

Page 107



Prior to sending this direction, please attach a copy of the draft IJB minutes, original 
report and the completed consultation checklist.

Details of funding source:- 
 

Number of Service Users  1,100  
Number of providers 12  
Number of Concurrent Licences 35  
     

 Module   Cost Per 
Unit  

 Cost 
Type  

 Volume 
required  

  

CM Mobile - monitoring 
costs/AURA Landline Costs 

£5.30 recurring 1,100 £5,830.00 

CallConfirmLive! User Licences £110.00 recurring 35 £3,850.00 
Fully Hosted Database Server 
Rental Support & Maintenance 

£750.00 recurring 1 £750.00 

CMBI -
 Business Intelligence reporting 
software 

£500.00 recurring 1 £500.00 

Commissioner Portal - Access for 
private providers and 
Council Staff 

£40.00 recurring 35 £1,400.00 

Lone Worker Protection £5.00 recurring 252 £1,260.00 
Total       £13,590.00 
    £163,080.00 

Page 108



Business Case

Business Case Aberdeen Health and Social Care Partnership

Project Name Resourcing of Adult 
Immunisations Service

Date 17/02/2020

Author S McNamee Version 1.2
Contents
1. BUSINESS NEED......................................................................................................................................................2

2. OBJECTIVES............................................................................................................................................................3

3. OPTIONS APPRAISAL ..............................................................................................................................................3

3.1 OPTION 1 – DO NOTHING / DO MINIMUM..........................................................................................................................3
3.2 OPTION 2 – USE NURSING BANK STAFF TO SUPPORT SERVICE ...................................................................................................3
3.3 OPTION 3 – RECRUITMENT OF ADDITIONAL RESOURCE FOR TEAM .............................................................................................4
3.4 SCORING OF OPTIONS AGAINST OBJECTIVES .........................................................................................................................5
3.5 RECOMMENDATION .........................................................................................................................................................6

4. SCOPE ....................................................................................................................................................................6

4.1 OUT OF SCOPE................................................................................................................................................................6

5. BENEFITS................................................................................................................................................................7

5.1 CITIZEN BENEFITS ............................................................................................................................................................7
5.2 STAFF /SERVICE/ORGANISATION BENEFITS............................................................................................................................7
5.3 RESOURCES BENEFITS (FINANCIAL)......................................................................................................................................8

6. COSTS ....................................................................................................................................................................9

6.1 PROJECT ........................................................................................................................................................................9

7. PROCUREMENT APPROACH .................................................................................................................................10

8. STATE AID IMPLICATIONS.....................................................................................................................................10

9. EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT .......................................................................................................................10

10. KEY RISKS.............................................................................................................................................................10

11. TIME ....................................................................................................................................................................11

11.1 TIME CONSTRAINTS & ASPIRATIONS.............................................................................................................................11
11.2 KEY MILESTONES......................................................................................................................................................11

12. GOVERNANCE ......................................................................................................................................................11

13. RESOURCES..........................................................................................................................................................12

14. ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT........................................................................................................................12

15. STAKEHOLDERS ....................................................................................................................................................12

16. ASSUMPTIONS .....................................................................................................................................................12

17. DEPENDENCIES.....................................................................................................................................................13

18. CONSTRAINTS ......................................................................................................................................................13

19. ICT HARDWARE, SOFTWARE OR NETWORK INFRASTRUCTURE .............................................................................13

20. SUPPORT SERVICES CONSULTED...........................................................................................................................13

21. DOCUMENT REVISION HISTORY ...........................................................................................................................13

Page 109



Business Case

Business Case Aberdeen Health and Social Care Partnership

1. Business Need
Current position: 
Adult immunisations are conducted in GP Practices across the city. In fulfilment of 
undertakings given in the Memorandum of Understanding underpinning the introduction of 
the new GP contract and as part of the Primary Care Improvement Plan (PCIP) this work 
will transfer under the responsibility of Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership.

Adult immunisations cover the following:
 Shingles Cohort – (70yrs+ only)
 Annual PPV (pneumococcal) Cohort – (65yrs+ only)
 Flu Cohort – (65yrs+ only)
 Flu ‘At Risk’ Cohort - (all ages) 

This is a like-for-like request for continuing service delivery. Analysis of current delivery 
activity has been completed and informs the staff modelling and resource request within 
this business case.

2. Objectives

Key objectives are to:

- Improve uptake of seasonal flu vaccination through addressing the delivery 
pressures of this programme

- Maintain or improve immunisation rates for Shingles and Pneumococcal 
immunisations

- Establish an adequate resource base to facilitate negotiation of transfer of 
responsibility for adult vaccinations to a Partnership vaccination team – meet current 
and projected demand

3. Options Appraisal

3.1Option 1 – Do Nothing / Do Minimum

Description Do nothing

Expected Costs No additional costs to Partnership 

Risks Specific to this 
Option

We would be in breach of MoU commitments and not aligned 
to our commitments given to delivery of PCIP.

Page 110



Business Case

Business Case Aberdeen Health and Social Care Partnership

Advantages & 
Disadvantages

Advantages
Finances could be deployed to other aspects of PCIP
Disadvantages
Reputational damage for Partnership with Scottish Government 
and GP Local Medical Council
Cessation of all vaccinations for Adults within Aberdeen City 
when GPs withdraw support for this.

Other Points This is not a viable option

3.2Option 2 – Provide Funding for Adult Vaccinations at current level

Description Mainstream funding for vaccinations team to be put in place at 
current levels of resourcing to be funded from Primary Care 
Improvement Fund.

Expected Costs As per section 6.1. Note that the costs indicate a maximum and 
minimum which relates to current unknowns. 
As further modelling work is completed the costs will be 
amended appropriately – only the minimum required resources 
will be used.

Risks Specific to this 
Option

Possibility of recruitment challenges for what may be seen as a 
task orientated (though specialist) role.

Advantages & 
Disadvantages

Advantages
Continuity in availability of adults to access vaccinations when 
GPs withdraw from delivery at end of 3 year PCIP 
implementation period.   

Other Points Preferred Option
This option will be put in place for 2020/21 while further work 
on CTACs is progressed and learning used to inform future 
plans. 
The business case will be refined for 21/22 onwards, however 
ongoing funding (refined) will be required.

Add more option boxes as required.

Page 111



Business Case

Business Case Page 4 of 12 Health and Social Care Partnership

3.3Scoring of Options Against Objectives

Options Scoring Against ObjectivesObjectives Option 1 Option 2 Option 3

Improve uptake of seasonal flu vaccination through addressing the delivery pressures 
of this programme -1 3
Maintain or improve immunisation rates for Shingles and Pneumococcal 
immunisations -1 3
Establish an adequate resource base to facilitate negotiation of transfer of 
responsibility for adult vaccinations to a Partnership vaccination team – meet current 
and projected demand -1 3

Total -3 9
Scoring
Fully Delivers = 3; Mostly Delivers = 2; Delivers to a Limited Extent = 1; Does not Deliver = 0; Will have a negative impact on objective = -1

P
age 112



Business Case

[Type here] [Type here] [Type here]

3.4Recommendation

It is recommended that Option 2 is progressed. As it provides a sustainable staffing 
structure to meet current and predicted future demand levels.

4. Scope
Provision of funding for a Vaccinations Team for Aberdeen City. 

4.1Out of Scope

Provision of a Vaccinations Team for other areas of NHS Grampian.

Page 113



Business Case

$zdbe1ou4.docx Adults Page 6 of 12 Health and Social Care Partnership

5. Benefits

5.1Citizen Benefits

Benefit Measures Sourc
e

Baselin
e

Expecte
d Benefit

Expected 
Date

Measure 
Frequenc

y

Improved 
adherence to 
the 
immunisation 
schedule for 
adults

Uptake of 
adult and ‘at 
risk’ 
immunisations
.

ISD Increased 
uptake

30/09/202
0

Annually

Improved 
uptake of 
immunisation
s will improve 
herd immunity 
in all areas 
and reduce 
the risk of 
outbreaks of 
vaccine 
preventable 
disease

Uptake of 
adult and ‘at 
risk’ 
immunisations
.

ISD Increased 
uptake

30/09/202
0

Annually

Citizens may 
have 
continued 
confidence in 
getting 
immunisation
s as per the 
schedule – 
reduces risk 
of complaints.  

Uptake of 
adult and ‘at 
risk’ 
immunisations
.

ISD Increased 
uptake

30/09/202
0

Annually

5.2Staff /service/organisation Benefits

Page 114



Business Case

$zdbe1ou4.docx Adults Page 7 of 12 Health and Social Care Partnership

Benefit Measures Source Baseline Expected 
Benefit

Expected 
Date

Measure 
Frequency

Puts a more 
effective and 
sustainable 
arrangement 
in place 
optimising 
delivery and 
recording of 
adult 
immunisations 
to achieve 
improved 
uptake in the 
population. 

Uptake of 
immunisations 
per population

ISD Increased 
uptake

30/09/2020 Annually

Able to 
manage adult 
vaccinations 
as per 
schedule. 

ISD Achieve 
targets

30/09/2020 Annually

Staff will 
become 
immunisation 
experts who 
are up to date 
with relevant 
researched 
based 
evidence.  

VTP More 
informed 
staff.

30/09/2020 Annually

Providing 
assurance of 
a more stable, 
available and 
trained 
workforce.

Increased 
support for 
vaccination 
team through 
VTP 
management. 

More flexible 
workforce to 
meet the need 
of the service.

Annualised 
hours for 
seasonal 
vaccinations 
will allow staff 
to work 
additional 
hours over the 
flu period.  Flu 
programme 
will be 
delivered.

ISD Achieve 
targets

31/03/2021 Annually

Page 115



Business Case

$zdbe1ou4.docx Adults Page 8 of 12 Health and Social Care Partnership

6. Costs

6.1Project
(£’000) 2020/21 2021/22 Ongoing

Staffing & Service Resources
Band 6 Nurse Coordinator 51,794 51,794 51,794
Band 5 Nurse 9.33 WTE (year one as includes 
shingles and pneumococcal outstanding), 5.29WTE 
thereafter

388,379 220,206 220,206

Band 4 Administrator 32,601 32,601 32,601
Band 2 Administrator 9.33 WTE year 1, 5.29WTE 
recurring*

249,930 141,707 141,707

Disposables and stationery 7200 7200 7200
Equipment, gloves, syringes etc 6500 6500 6500
Laptops x 7 8400 - -
Fridges x 60** 30,000 - -
Mobile Phones x 7 standard handsets (for additional 
staff)

581 - -

Training Costs
Total 775,385 460,008 460,008

Total without fridges or receptionist cover 495,455 318,301 318,301

*Costs may be reduced if receptionist available within premises
**Costs may be reduced if permission obtained to use GP fridges. Assumes cost of £500 per 
fridge

Actual total likely to be between higher and lower total costs.

Note: Business case will be refined based on learning from 2020/21 for 2021/22 onwards – 
this will include associated refinement of resource requirements.

Resource made available will relate to actual costs required to deliver service.

7. Procurement Approach

Page 116



Business Case

$zdbe1ou4.docx Adults Page 9 of 12 Health and Social Care Partnership

N/A

8. State Aid Implications
N/A

9. Equalities Impact Assessment
Positive impact on citizens within some of the 9 protected characteristics (e.g. ethnicity, 
learning disability/difficulty) as immunisation nurses will have more time to explain the 
vaccination programme and confirm previous immunisation history during delivery of the 
immunisation programme.

Positive impact –Immunisation Nurses will have more time to follow up ‘At Risk’ individuals 
who miss appointments, explain the programme to them and provide an additional 
opportunity for vaccination.

10.Key Risks
Description Mitigation
Inability to recruit nurses and retain them Existing bank nurses
Time to recruit and train nurses Explain project to SMOC to speed up 

vacancy control.
Availability of sufficient staff to mentor nurses on 
the training programme 

Vaccination Programme Manager will 
support if required. 

11.Time

11.1 Time Constraints & Aspirations

Takes approx. 3 months to recruit nurses and train them to deliver the immunisations

11.2 Key Milestones
Description Target Date
Clarify whether GP practices can offer space and reception/ 
admin support/ can pull off data about under 65s/ if practice 
fridges can be used with LMC

March 2020

Page 117



Business Case

$zdbe1ou4.docx Adults Page 10 of 12 Health and Social Care Partnership

If yes to above carry out survey of available locations in 
existing GP premises, review against availability of 
partnership premises and confirm location plan

April 2020

Band 6 coordinator (higher duties one year duration) in post April 2020
Recruitment of additional nurses and admin staff June 2020
Induction and training of additional nurses and admin staff July 2020
Commencement of flu vaccinations October 2020

12.Governance

Discussed at Primary Care Improvement Group 3/3/20
Supported by Grampian Vaccination Transformation Group 4/3/20
Approved through Executive Programme Board 11/3/20.
To be considered by IJB 24/3/20.

Role Name
Project Sponsor  Gail Woodcock, Lead Transformation Manager 
Programme Manager Katrina Morrison, Vaccination Programme Manager
Project Manager Jo Hall, Transformation Programme Manager
Other Project Roles Lead Nurse, Nursing Service Managers

PSD – provide relevant up to date paperwork.
Scottish Immunisation Recording Systems (SIRS) – update 
immunisation records.

13.Resources

Task Responsible 
Service/Team Start Date End Date

Corporate Public Health e-modules for 
immunisation 
training

Vaccination Programme Manager Support recruitment 
& management

Administrative support manager Support recruitment 
& management

Page 118



Business Case

$zdbe1ou4.docx Adults Page 11 of 12 Health and Social Care Partnership

Lead Nurse Communicate 
relevant information 
to immunisation 
team.

14.Environmental Management
N/A

15.Stakeholders
GP‘s/primary care – will have a vested interest in the health of the community. 
CPHM (on behalf of NHS Grampian’s DPH)-requires to see consistent immunisation 
uptake of immunisations in the Aberdeen population for herd immunity.
Scottish Government- requires implementation of the VTP and maintenance of 
immunisation uptakes at or above target levels.
H&SCP – risk management

16.Assumptions
Assumption that this project will make a difference and achieve its objectives as directed by 
the Scottish Government. 
Assumption that if the resource is not allocated to provide same level of immunisations 
currently administered in General Practice that we will not have the capacity to cope with 
any additional immunisation work load generated by increased uptake which may lead to 
staff sickness, resignation and put the public’s health at risk.

17.Dependencies
The timely delivery of the national Immunisation Transformation Programme.

18.Constraints
N/A

19. ICT Hardware, Software or Network infrastructure

Description of change to Hardware, Software or 
Network Infrastructure

EA Approval 
Required?

Date 
Approval 
Received

Page 119



Business Case

$zdbe1ou4.docx Adults Page 12 of 12 Health and Social Care Partnership

None

20.Support Services Consulted

Service Name
Sections 

Checked / 
Contributed

Their Comments Date

Finance G Parkin

21.Document Revision History
Version Reason By Date

V1.0 Initial Draft for consultation S McNamee 17/02/2020
V1.1 Revised draft following feedback from PCIP G Woodcock 3/3/20
V1.2 Revised following Executive Programme 

Board
G Woodcock 11/3/20

Page 120



Prior to sending this direction, please attach a copy of the draft IJB minutes, original 
report and the completed consultation checklist.

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

DIRECTION 

ISSUED UNDER S26-28 OF THE PUBLIC BODIES (JOINT WORKING) (SCOTLAND) ACT 2014
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

The NHS GRAMPIAN is hereby directed to deliver for the Board, the services noted 
below in pursuance of the functions noted below and within the associated budget 
noted below. 

Services will be provided in line with the Board’s Strategic Plan and existing 
operational arrangements pending future directions from the Board.

Related Report Number:- HSCP19116

Approval from IJB received on:-  24th March 2020

Description of services/functions:- Mainstream funding for vaccinations team to 
be put in place at current levels of resourcing to be funded from Primary Care 
Improvement Fund. 

Reference to the integration scheme:- Annex 2, Part 2 – Support services

Link to strategic priorities (with reference to strategic plan and commissioning 
plan):- This report links to Strategic Aim 3 Personalisation “Ensuring that the 
right care is provided in the right place and at the right time when people are in need”

Timescales involved:-

Start date:- 01.04.20

End date:-  Ongoing 

Associated Budget:- Primary Care Improvement Fund 

Details of funding source:-

1. Project 
(£’000) 2020/21 2021/22 Ongoing 

Staffing & Service Resources    
Band 6 Nurse Coordinator 51,794 51,794 51,794 
Band 5 Nurse 9.33 WTE (year one as includes 
shingles and pneumococcal outstanding), 

388,379 220,206 220,206 

Page 121



Prior to sending this direction, please attach a copy of the draft IJB minutes, original 
report and the completed consultation checklist.

5.29WTE thereafter 
Band 4 Administrator 32,601 32,601 32,601 
Band 2 Administrator 9.33 WTE year 1, 
5.29WTE recurring* 

249,930 141,707 141,707 

Disposables and stationery 7200 7200 7200 
Equipment, gloves, syringes etc 6500 6500 6500 
Laptops x 7  8400 - - 
Fridges x 60** 30,000 - - 
Mobile Phones x 7 standard handsets (for 
additional staff) 

581 - - 

Training Costs    
Total 775,385 460,008 460,008 

Total without fridges or receptionist cover 495,455 318,301 318,301 

Page 122



Document is Restricted

Page 123

Agenda Item 13
Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

Agenda Item 14
Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 149

Agenda Item 15
Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 161

Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 165

Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 169

Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 173

Exempt information as described in paragraph(s) 6 of Schedule 7A
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Members are requested to intimate any declarations of interest
	4 Minute of Board Meeting of 10  March 2020
	5 Draft Minute of Risk, Audit and Performance Systems Committee of 25 February 2020
	6 Draft Minute of Clinical and Care Governance Committee of 4 February 2020
	7 Business Planner
	8 Chief Officer's Report - HSCP.19.110
	9 Revised Scheme of Integration to Host Grampian-wide Mental Health and Learning Disability Services - HSCP.19.107
	10 Grampian-wide Strategic Framework for Mental Health and Learning Disability Services 2020-2025 - HSCP.19.108
	HSCP.19.108 IJB Grampian-wide MHLD (Strategic Framework) - (appendix a) - FINAL (unapproved)

	11 Mental Health Delivery Plan - HSCP.19.113
	HSCP.19.113 Appendix A Mental Health Delivery Plan Final

	12 Transformation - Decisions Required: Digital - HSCP.19.116
	HSCP.19.116 - Appndx B Directions - CM2000
	HSCP.19.116 Appendix C - Adult Imms Business Case
	HSCP.19.116 Appendix D -  Directions -Adult Imms Business Case

	13 Transformation - Decisions Required: Digital - HSCP.19.116
	14 Developing health and care facilities for Countesswells (Update)  - HSCP.19.109
	15 2020/21 Supplementary Procurement Work Plan 2 - HSCP 19.121
	Copy of HSCP19121SupplementaryReportAppendixA
	HSCP.19.121 BC-Direct-Award-ADP-Homeless-Support
	HSCP.19.121 BC-Direct-Award-Sensory-Impairment
	HSCP.19.121 BC-Extension-Carers-Support-Service
	HSCP.19.121 BC-Tender-Carers-Support-Service
	HSCP.19.121 Supplementary-Report-Appendix-C-Directions


